EXAMINING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN NON-COGNITIVE SKILLS AND LEADERSHIP: THE INFLUENCE OF HOPE AND GRIT ON TRANSFORMATIONAL LEADERSHIP BEHAVIOR

BY

BRIAN A. DAVIDSON

Submitted to the graduate degree program in Educational and Leadership and Policy Studies and the Graduate Faculty of the University of Kansas in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education.

Co-Chairperson: Thomas DeLuca

Co-Chairperson: Rick Ginsberg

Argun Saatcioglu

Deborah Perbeck

James Lichtenberg

Date Defended: October 22, 2014

The Dissertation Committee for Brian A. Davidson certifies that this is the approved version of the following dissertation:

Examining the Relationship between Non-cognitive Skills and Leadership: The Influence of Hope and Grit on Transformational Leadership Behavior

Co-Chairperson: Thomas DeLuca

Co-Chairperson: Rick Ginsberg

Date approved: October 27, 2014

ABSTRACT

Though it is widely believed that leadership is instrumental to organizational performance, there is not clear understanding of the identifiable personal factors associated with effective leaders. Recent research in psychology, education, and behavioral economics has started to recognize the importance of non-cognitive skills to many successful life outcomes. However, there is little research connecting noncognitive skills to effective leadership. Therefore, the purpose of this study is to identify and examine the relationship between the non-cognitive skills of hope and grit in relation to self-identified transformational leadership behavior.

This study utilized elementary school principals as the leaders of interest in order to study the relationship between non-cognitive skills and transformational leadership behavior. Participants completed four instruments including: The Adult Trait Hope Scale, Grit Scale, twenty items measuring transformational leadership on the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (5X-Short), as well as a short demographic survey. The study used correlational analyses to examine the relationship between hope, grit, and transformational leadership behavior and also used linear regression analyses to study the predictive relationship between hope, grit, and transformational leadership between hope, grit, and transformational leadership between hope.

Findings from this study suggest that not only are both hope and grit positively related to transformational leadership behavior but that both hope and grit predicted transformational leadership behavior when controlling for age, gender, years of administrative experience, high school grade point average, undergraduate grade point average, maternal level of education, and paternal level of education. Similar to previous research examining non-cognitive skills, this study highlights the importance of including non-cognitive skills when trying to predict successful outcomes, as both hope and grit were found to be positive predictors of transformational leadership behavior. With a large literature supporting the idea that non-cognitive skills are malleable, this study has implications for the fields of leadership development and education, as it adds to the current body of leadership literature examining the dispositional antecedents of effective leaders and has practical implications for the hiring practices and professional development opportunities of school leaders.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am a firm believer that behind every great achievement is a system of support and guidance that makes it all possible. Completing this dissertation, and consequently this degree, is a perfect example of just that. For without the support of my family, friends, and mentors, this would not have been possible.

First and foremost, there is the one person that knows me best - my beautiful wife and best friend, Kari. Only a few short days after getting married, we packed our bags and moved to Kansas to start this journey. You have been with me throughout all its ups and downs, and for that, I am eternally grateful. Your positivity, sacrifice, and unending support have made this all possible. Next, my family has always been there to provide me support and encouragement. I want to thank my mother, father, and brother as well as their families for always pushing me to be my best. You not only cultivated in me a strong work ethic, but you developed in me the belief that I could achieve anything I put my mind to. Likewise, I would also like to express my gratitude for Dick and Janet Winder and Kent and Traci McCausland. Your encouragement and support has meant so much more than you realize. I am truly blessed to be part of your family.

Words cannot express how grateful I am to my committee members – Dr. Thomas DeLuca, Dean Rick Ginsberg, Dr. Argun Saatcioglu, Dr. Deborah Perbeck, and Dr. Jim Lichtenberg. This is especially true for my two co-chairs – Tom and Rick. Tom, the number of hours you have dedicated to working with me throughout this process continues to astonish me. It has been an absolute pleasure having you guide me through this process. Rick, if there is such a thing as a transformational leader, you are it. In all that you do, you always made time to help me along this journey, and for that I thank you. Beyond these individuals, I have been extremely fortunate to have had the opportunity to learn from some the world's finest at The University of Kansas. In addition to those noted above, faculty members such as Dr. Mike Neal, Dr. Bob Harrington, Dr. Lauri Herrmann-Ginsberg, Dr. Marc Mahlios, Dr. Tom Krieshok, Dr. Susan Twombly, Dr. Reva Friedman-Nimz, Dr. Patricia Lowe, Dr. Joe Novak, and Dr. Perry Perkins provided me with not only a world-class education but also a great deal of support during my years at KU. You all have made a great impact on my life.

Outside of Kansas, I am extremely thankful for my tremendous mentor, Dr. Jeff Thompson. As President of Peak Learning, Inc., you have taken me under your wing and provided on-going guidance and support. Thank you for all of your time, energy, and effort, and for helping me to "just get the dissertation done." Next, I want to express my appreciation for Tim Brady. You are one of the true great motivators in my life. I also want to thank all of my friends that have positively touched my life over these last six years. You have been an instrumental part of this process - thank you for being such wonderful people. Last but not least, I want to express my gratitude to all of the outstanding students I have taught throughout the years. In so many ways, I feel I have learned ten times more from you than you ever learned from me.

Finally, I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my son, Henry. Watching you grow has been the greatest joy of all. It is my hope in completing this work that you will one day grow to learn that with a little hope and grit, anything is possible.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF TABLES	ix
.IST OF FIGURES	х
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF LITERATURE	9
Leadership Theory	9
Transformational Leadership: A Model of Successful Leadership Behavior	14
Measuring Transformational Leadership	17
Factors Contributing to Leadership	19
Genetic and Biological Factors of Leadership	20
Environmental Factors of Leadership	23
Psychological Factors of Leadership	27
Non-cognitive Skills	30
Non-cognitive Skills and Leadership	34
Норе	35
Grit	36
Measuring Non-cognitive Skills	37
Summary	39
CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY	40
Research Questions	40
Null hypothesis	41
Examination of Variables	41
Sample Population	44
Data Collection	44
Data Analysis	45
Ethical Considerations	46
Limitations	40
CHAPTER IV: RESULTS	47
Descriptive Statistics	47
Research Question 1	51
Research Question 2	56
Research Question 3	60
Summary	63
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION	65
Hope and Transformational Leadership Behavior	65
Grit and Transformational Leadership Behavior	68
Other Findings	70
Implications	74
Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research	76

Summary	80
APPENDIX A: THE ADULT TRAIT HOPE SCALE	82
APPENDIX B: THE GRIT SCALE APPENDIX C: MULTIFACTOR LEADERSHIP QUESTIONNAIRE LEADER FORM (5X-SHORT)	84 88
APPENDIX D: DEMOGRAPHIC SURVEY	90
APPENDIX E: MINDGARDEN LETTER GRANTING PERMISSION TO USE COPYRIGHT MATERIAL APPENDIX F: CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH	93 95
REFERENCE LIST	100

viii

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: List of Study Variables	43
Table 2: Mean Scores and Standard Deviations for Various Samples	48
Table 3: Descriptive Statistics	49
Table 4: Representativeness of Sample to Population	51
Table 5: Intercorrelations Between Study Variables	52
Table 6: Summary of Hope Regression Analysis Predicting Self-Identified Transformational Leadership Behavior	54
Table 7: Intercorrelations Between The Adult Trait Hope Scale Items and Self-Identified Transformational Leadership Behavior	55
Table 8: Summary of The Adult Trait Hope Scale Items Regression Analysis Predicting Self- Identified Transformational Leadership Behavior	56
Table 9: Summary of Grit Regression Analysis Predicting Self-Identified Transformational Leadership Behavior	58
Table 10: Intercorrelations Between Grit Scale Items and Self-Identified Transformational Leadership Behavior	59
Table 11: Summary of Grit Scale Items Regression Analysis Predicting Self-Identified Transformational Leadership Behavior	59
Table 12: Summary of Hope, Grit, and Control Variables Regression Analyses Predicting Self- Identified Transformational Leadership Behavior	62

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: A Continuum of Successful Leadership Behavior	15
Figure 2: Histogram of Years Served as School Principal	50
Figure 3: Scatter Plot Correlation Analysis: Hope's Relation to Elementary Administrator's Self- Identified Transformational Leadership	53
Figure 4: Scatter Plot Correlation Analysis: Grit's Relation to Elementary Administrator's Self- Identified Transformational Leadership	57

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Overview

At all levels and sectors of society, leadership is there to guide and ultimately influence results (Bass, 2006). When leaders exhibit successful leadership behaviors¹ such as building trust with colleagues, motivating employees with an inspiring vision, and recognizing that each individual has a different set of strengths, these behaviors put an organization in a position to obtain positive organizational outcomes (Avolio & Bass, 1991). Despite the commonly held view that leadership makes a difference, there still is not a clear understanding of what successful leadership truly entails. Throughout the last one hundred years, scholars have attempted to define and describe the common set of behaviors that are characteristic of effective leaders. Numerous theories such as the "Great Man" theory, McGregor's Theory X and Theory Y, situational leadership, strengths-based leadership, and transformational leadership have been created to explain the behaviors associated with leading a group to successful outcomes (Bass, 2006).

In addition to the research examining what successful leadership is, there has also been considerable investigation of individuals identified as great leaders. Researchers have attempted to understand the common factors shared by history's noteworthy leaders. The quest to understand why some leaders succeed at the highest of levels while others achieve average or below average results has plagued researchers as well as leaders themselves. In a review of 124 studies examining the personal traits of leaders, Stogdill (1948) asserted that there was not a consistent set of traits separating leaders

¹ For the purpose of this study, successful leadership is defined as reporting a high level of transformational leadership behaviors, as measured by the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ 5X-Short). The elements composing transformational leadership include the following: individualized consideration, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, idealized influence attributes, and idealized influence behaviors.

from non-leaders across various domains. However, in a subsequent review of 163 new studies, Stogdill (1974) argued that leadership is driven by both personal and situational factors.

When examining the personal factors associated with leadership, recent evidence suggests that leadership is the result of a complex interaction between a person's biological, sociological, and psychological factors. With regard to the biological factors impacting leadership, researchers have demonstrated largely genetic factors such as general intelligence (Zacarro et al., 2004), height (Gladwell, 2005), and personality (Judge et al., 2002) all play a role in predicting leadership occupancy. Sociological forces also play a role in demonstrated leadership traits. Influences such as the parenting style with which a child is raised (Avolio et al., 2009) as well as the developmental experiences in childhood (e.g., Voelker, 2011) and adulthood (Burke & Attridge, 2011) influence the likelihood of serving in a leadership role. Lastly, research also supports the recognition that a leader's own psychological processes influence leadership occupancy and performance. For instance, recent scholarship has highlighted the value and importance of emotional intelligence in leadership success (Boyatzis, 2009; Goleman, 1998).

For the purposes of this study, successful leadership is defined as reporting a high level of transformational leadership behavior, as measured by the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ 5X-Short). The transformational leadership model is one of the most widely used models of successful leadership behavior and focuses on leadership behaviors commonly found within individuals who motivate employees to transform others around them and their organizations (Avolio & Bass, 2004; Bass, 2006). A leader demonstrating transformational leadership behavior repeatedly engages in the five elements that describe the transformational leadership model. First, the leader provides individualized consideration and treats each employee as a unique individual with a unique skillset and set of strengths. Secondly, the leader also engages in inspirational motivation, where the leader creates a vision that is met with enthusiasm and optimism for future goals. Next, the leader provides intellectual stimulation, where subordinates are constantly challenged to innovate and utilize higher-

level critical thinking skills. Finally, the leader also exhibits idealized influence attributes and behaviors where the leader develops deep trust and loyalty with those in the organization by acting with honesty, integrity, and ethical behavior (Avolio & Bass, 2004).

Despite an ample supply of literature examining the personal attributes and traits of leaders, little is known about how non-cognitive skills influence leadership. In uniting a growing body of studies from several fields and disciplines such as psychology, education, and economics, research supports that non-cognitive skills are important predictors of an individual's ultimate success in life (Heckman, Humphries, & Kautz, 2014). Whereas decades of research have highlighted the importance of cognitive skills such as general mental ability (IQ), abstract reasoning, memory, knowledge, and vocabulary, there is a growing body of research illustrating that simply possessing a high level of intelligence and cognitive skills is not always sufficient to lead individuals to the highest levels of success and achievement (Kaufman, 2013; Levin, 2012; Tough, 2012). Instead, there is increasing awareness of another set of variables called non-cognitive skills that are equally as important, if not more important, in ultimately determining the success of an individual (Jackson, 2013). These malleable non-cognitive skills include characteristics such as grit, motivation, self-control, hope, self-discipline, persistence, resiliency, and other factors that appear to play an immense role in predicting the ultimate success of an individual (U.S. Department of Education, 2013). Despite the growing body of research describing how noncognitive factors are related to numerous successful life outcomes², there is not a clear understanding of whether, or to what degree, these non-cognitive factors influence leadership success.

² Successful outcomes examined in previous studies include labor market outcomes (Heckman et al., 2006; Heckman & Kautz, 2012; Heckman & Rubenstein, 2001), academic achievement (Dweck, 2006; Duckworth & Seligman, 2005; Tracey & Sedlacek, 1982), physical and psychological well-being (Baumeister & Tierney, 2011; Lopez, 2013; Seligman, 2006; Snyder & Lopez, 2005), and workplace performance (Bernardi, 2011; Judge et al., 2002; Judge & Bono, 2001; Luthans et al., 2007; Robertson-Kraft & Duckworth, 2013).

Two non-cognitive skills that have received recent attention by scholars, practitioners, and the popular media are hope and grit (Essig, 2013; National Public Radio and Duckworth, 2013; Perkins-Gough, 2013). Hope is defined as the "goal-directed thinking in which people perceive that they can produce routes to desired goals (pathways thinking) and the requisite motivation to use those routes (agency thinking)" (Lopez & Snyder, 2003, p. 94). Hope is viewed as having both the will to accomplish one's goals as well as the ways to ensure completion of one's goals occurs (Kaufman, 2013). This concept has developed as part of a new movement in psychology called positive psychology, which focuses on human strengths and optimal human functioning. Although the literature examining hope and leadership is sparse, hope has been studied alongside numerous other outcomes. For example, having higher levels of hope is associated with better performance in academics and athletics and is associated with superior psychological and physical health outcomes (Lopez, 2013; Lopez & Snyder, 2003).

Like hope, grit is another recent non-cognitive skill that has come to light in the age of positive psychology (Matthews, 2008). Grit, defined as the passion and perseverance for long-term goals, has garnered much attention by both researchers and practitioners in the fields of education, psychology, and business. Grit has been shown to be a predictor of many positive outcomes such as retention in the United States Military Academy, teacher effectiveness, success in the National Spelling Bee, and teacher retention in low-income urban schools (Duckworth et al., 2007; Duckworth et al., 2009; Duckworth et al., 2010; Duckworth & Quinn, 2009; Robertson-Kraft & Duckworth, 2013). Although grit has been found to be able to predict positive outcomes in a variety of domains, at this time there appears to be no studies examining whether grit predicts successful leadership behavior.

This study examines hope, grit, and transformational leadership, and is significant because it generates new knowledge about the dispositional antecedents of successful leaders. Specifically, the study examines the role and influence of two non-cognitive skills, hope and grit, and their relationship to

successful leadership behavior in elementary education principals. By understanding the relationship between hope, grit, and transformational leadership, this study makes a contribution to the leadership development literature and informs school leaders about the relationship between non-cognitive skills and effective leadership.

Purpose

The purpose of this paper is to examine the predictive relationship between non-cognitive skills and transformational leadership behavior by examining how the non-cognitive skills of hope and grit relate to transformational leadership behavior in elementary school administrators.

Research Questions

In order to examine the relationship between non-cognitive skills and transformational leadership behavior, the following research questions guide this study:

- To what extent is there a relationship between a leader's level of hope and self-identified levels of transformational leadership behavior as measured by the MLQ (5X-Short)?
- 2) To what extent is there a relationship between a leader's level of grit and self-identified levels of transformational leadership behavior as measured by the MLQ (5X-Short)?
- 3) To what extent do hope and grit account for the variance in self-identified transformational leadership behavior when controlling for age, years of administrative experience, gender, high school grade point average, undergraduate grade point average, maternal level of education, and paternal level of education?

Significance of Topic

Recent research shows that leadership matters within educational institutions and that effective schools often have strong leaders who provide instructional leadership (Leithwood, 2003; Marzano &

Waters, 2009; Moolenaar, Daly, & Sleeger, 2010; Valentine & Prater, 2011; Wilson, 2000). Organizations improve their performance when leaders are able to command loyalty, define and instill a clear and powerful sense of mission, attract talented workers who believe they are joining something special, and make exacting demands on subordinates (Wilson, 2000). Further, Marzano and Waters (2009) found that leadership traits and behaviors such as having situational awareness, intellectual stimulation, serving as a change agent, and collecting input were all correlated with student achievement at a correlational coefficient of .30 or higher, suggesting that leaders do make a difference on the outcomes desired by educational institutions. A successful leader can make an organization thrive while an ineffective leader can bring harmful effects to an organization and create significant social and financial costs for the organization (Glickman et al., 2010). Given the importance leadership brings to any organization, including public schools, decision-makers (e.g., boards of education, superintendents, administrators) who better understand how to develop effective leaders typically lead their organizations to the highest levels of achievement.

Despite recognition of this tremendous need, there is not a clear understanding of the foundational principles that determine the likelihood of leadership success. Numerous groups and consulting companies³ have been created to help organizations foster leadership that will make their organizations rise to higher levels of organizational performance. Even with the broad scope of the leadership development field, there are still questions about what embodies a great leader. Moreover, the research on non-cognitive skills illustrates the beneficial life outcomes that occur by possessing high levels of non-cognitive skills, but there has been little research investigating the role non-cognitive skills play in determining leadership success. Therefore, the purpose of this paper is to describe the relationship between non-cognitive skills and effective leadership behaviors by examining the

³ The field of leadership development is a 12 billion dollar industry (Avolio & Hannah, 2008).

relationship of hope, grit, and transformational leadership behaviors in elementary education school principals.

Methodology

Elementary school principals in the state of Kansas were selected to participate in the study. These professionals were chosen from the Kansas Consolidated School Directory as well as from a list utilized by the United School Administrators of Kansas organization. One hundred sixteen out of 670 elementary principals participated in the study by completing four instruments measuring hope, grit, transformational leadership, and demographic data; 1) hope was measured by utilizing The Adult Trait Hope Scale, 2) grit was assessed using the 12-item Grit Scale, 3) transformational leadership was calculated by using the 20 items measuring transformational leadership on the MLQ (5X-Short) and, 4) control variables were collected in a brief demographic survey.

Descriptive statistics including means and standard deviations were calculated and analyzed for hope, grit, transformational leadership, as well as the demographic data collected in the surveys. The demographic variables included age, gender, years of administrative experience, high school grade point average, undergraduate grade point average, maternal level of education, and paternal level of education. The relationships between hope, grit, and transformational leadership were examined using Pearson product correlations, and linear regression analyses were used to examine the predictive relationship between hope, grit, and transformational leadership while accounting for the various control variables found in the demographic survey.

Summary

An examination of the literature pertaining to leadership, non-cognitive skills, hope, and grit provides a current state of knowledge and helps illustrate the need for as well as the importance of the current study. This study utilized elementary school principals to study the relationship between noncognitive skills and transformational leadership behavior by using four instruments including: The Adult Trait Hope Scale, Grit Scale, twenty items measuring transformational leadership on the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (5X-Short), as well as a short demographic survey. The study uses correlational analyses to examine the relationship between hope, grit, and transformational leadership behavior and also uses linear regression analyses to study the predictive relationship between hope, grit, and transformational leadership when controlling for a set of demographic variables.

CHAPTER 2

Literature Review

The purpose of this literature review is to examine the literature on the antecedents of leadership and to examine the relationship between non-cognitive skills and leadership behavior. The review begins by examining leadership theory and transformational leadership, a model of successful leadership behavior that has been studied over the last thirty years. Next, it examines the antecedents of leadership and summarizes the genetic, sociological, and psychological factors contributing to the emergence of leadership traits, and concludes by examining the growing body of non-cognitive skills literature and how factors such as motivation, personality traits, and emotional intelligence are related to leadership.

Leadership Theory

Across all cultures and within every aspect of society, leadership exists in all levels and sectors of human involvement (Bass, 2006). Within an organization, leadership is a key component of change and growth. As the leadership literature continues to grow, however, there remains no consensus of how to define leadership. The word "leader" was documented as early as 1300, but the term "leadership" did not become widely used until the 1800s in describing politicians in the British Parliament (Bass, 2006). In examining the multitude of ways to define leadership, Rost (1993) examined nearly 600 publications describing leadership and found 221 unique definitions for leadership.

The topic of leadership frequently leaves individuals wondering if leadership is more of an art or science, or a combination of the two. For example, Covey (2008) describes leadership as the highest of all arts, thus allowing all other creation possible. Likewise, Beach (2006) describes leadership as an art used in pursuit of survival and prosperity, which produces appropriate changes to an organizations' external environment, structure, functions, and culture. Further, members of the strengths-based

movement view leadership as the art in which a leader harnesses one's strengths to the fullest potential and then maximizes those strengths to promote the well-being of the organization (Rath & Conchie, 2008). Vroom and Jago (2007) see leadership as "a process of motivating people to work together collaboratively to accomplish great things" (p.18). With these ideas in mind, leadership appears to be an art that utilizes one's own personal qualities to motivate, inspire, and empower others within an organization.

To further describe the definition of leadership, a distinction must be made between leadership and management. Management can be described as the ability of a person to get subordinates to complete a task (McGowan & Miller, 2001). Managers often will use their supervisory rank as a force to get subordinates to achieve tasks; therefore, management can be viewed as a top-down hierarchy in which there is a clear imbalance of power, with this imbalance of power typically serving as the key motivator to accomplish activities. Whereas management attempts to understand how to do things, leadership emphasizes what to do (Kowalski, 2006). Leaders do not necessarily use the top-down approach that managers often utilize but instead motivate their subordinates to rise to a higher level. Effective leaders are guided by higher ideals and values and use these values to inspire others to achieve at higher levels, to use reflection to improve their work-related activities, and to promote a strong sense of community, ownership, and commitment (Bennis, 1984; Burns, 1978). These leaders find a way to connect with their subordinates and work to build positive relationships with others, which then serves to empower their subordinates, thus encouraging subordinates to follow the direction advocated by the leader. The current literature often portrays leadership as superior to management (Kotter, 2008). However, all great leaders must also be great managers, as possessing skills in both management and leadership are necessary for leaders to be effective (Kowalski, 2006).

In attempts to explore and better understand the concept of leadership, scholars have developed multiple theories of leadership to provide a theoretical framework for understanding how individuals effectively lead others. Though there are numerous theories that attempt to describe leadership (see Bass, 2006), the following review will describe a few select theories including McGregor's Theory X and Theory Y model, strengths-based leadership theory, situational leadership, and transformational leadership.

McGregor's Theory X and Theory Y

One leadership theory is McGregor's (1960) Theory X and Theory Y model. The basic assumption is that managers hold different beliefs about what motivates individuals at the workplace. Theory X assumes individuals do not naturally enjoy working; therefore, managers must employ behavior management techniques to get their employees to perform the functions needed for the organization. On the other hand, Theory Y posits that humans enjoy working and that employees possess the capability to perform duties without the need for strict rules and procedures in place. Unlike in Theory X, advocates of Theory Y believe they can trust their employees and believe employees are committed to the organization, responsible, and capable of solving problems within the organization (McGregor, 1990).

In applying this theory to educational practice, Kowalski (2006) noted that an educational leader's stance on this theory will dictate how he or she treats employees and ultimately determine the behavior of the leader in the workplace. Though leaders recognize that Theory X serves its purpose of motivating employees at certain times, Lezotte (1994) found that educational leaders who work with and through other people tend to have greater success in improving school climate, learning, teaching, and parental involvement.

Strengths-based Leadership Theory

As opposed to McGregor's Theory X Theory Y model, strengths-based leadership theory has a different view. Strengths-based leadership has its root in positive psychology, a movement that seeks to

discover what is inherently right with people instead of what is wrong with them (Liesveld & Miller, 2005). Positive or strengths psychology believes that all people have strengths, and in order to become highly successful, individuals must learn about and harness their innate strengths. This philosophy was described by the founder of strengths-based psychology, Dr. Donald Clifton, as he said, "A leader needs to know his strengths as a carpenter know his tools, or a physician knows the instruments at her disposal. What great leaders have in common is that each truly knows his or her strengths - and can call on the right strength at the right time" (Rath & Conchie, 2008, p. 13). The theory of strengths-based leadership theory highlights that every leader may use different strengths when leading, and thus no two leaders may lead in the same manner. Martin Luther King, Jr., Winston Churchill, Eleanor Roosevelt, Vince Lombardi, Adolf Hitler, Nelson Mandela, the Dalai Lama, Sandra Day O'Connor, and Mahatmas Gandhi were all very different types of leaders with different styles of leadership. Strengths-based theory suggests the common thread between all of these leaders is that they knew how to utilize their strengths to help them become transformational leaders.

Research conducted by the Gallup Organization consistently demonstrates that leaders who attempt to be great at everything will never be great at anything; therefore, one of the greatest misconceptions about leadership is that of a well-rounded leader (Rath & Conchie, 2008). Instead, strengths-based leadership theory suggests that leaders should focus on employing their own strengths. Rather than being a well-rounded leader, advocates of this theory suggest leaders should work diligently to surround themselves with people whose strengths compliment their own strengths. Therefore, this theory advocates that every leader should focus on his or her own strengths and then build a team of diversified strengths.

In examining what makes great teams function, Rath and Conchie (2008) concluded that the best teams possessed four domains of effective leadership. The first domain is described as the executing domain. People strong in this domain know how to complete the work when it needs to get done. These individuals possess an ability to take an idea of a project and make it become a reality. They can complete all the details and generate something of brilliance. The second domain is called influencing. Employees strong in influencing have the ability to sell ideas. They have tremendous confidence, an ability to take charge, and are not afraid to speak up and share their ideas. The third domain is relationship building. Individuals strong in this area serve as the glue that holds teams together, where they utilize their relationship-building skills to make people feel welcomed, respected, and valued. They work to unite group members together to create a cohesive unit. Lastly, the fourth domain is called strategic thinking. Individuals in this domain serve as the visionary thinkers of the group. Often, they are futuristic in their thinking and help the group to keep in mind what could be. In sum, while individuals may be strong in one or two domains, great teams must possess all four. Therefore, advocates of strengths-based leadership would suggest that leaders of organizations should attempt to understand each employee's strengths and build teams with members whose strengths compose each of the aforementioned domains (i.e., executing, influencing, relationship building, and strategic thinking).

Situational Leadership

A third theory of leadership is situational leadership. Paul Hersey and Ken Blanchard created the idea of situational leadership during the 1980s (Bass, 2006; Hersey, Blanchard, & Johnson, 1988; Pascarella & Lunenberg, 1988). This leadership theory became enticing for educational leaders as the complexity of school reform increased and educational leaders felt an increased pressure to provide data to illustrate their effectiveness (Kowalski, 2006). As this theory developed, advocates thought leadership should be viewed when first looking at the situation and be seen as more of a dependent variable rather than an independent variable to organizational effectiveness (Vroom & Jago, 2007). In examining the influence of the situation on leadership, Vroom and Jago (2007) concluded that leaders must recognize that organizational effectiveness, which is often taken to be an indication of leadership, is impacted by situational influences that are not under the direct control of the leader, that situations do shape how leaders behave, and that situations influence the consequences of a leader's behavior.

In sum, there are numerous theories attempting to describe and define the nebulous concept of leadership. Previous scholarly work has shown that leadership is a separate concept than management. Further, theories such as McGregor's Theory X Theory Y, strengths-based leadership, and situational leadership have attempted to clarify the concept of leadership and explain the factors that ultimately drive organizational effectiveness.

Transformational Leadership: A Model of Successful Leadership Behavior

Over the last thirty years, one of the dominant models used throughout the leadership literature is the model of transformational leadership, which evolved from the study of transactional leadership. Unlike transformational leadership, transactional leadership is characterized by an exchange of a service for a reward (Bass & Avolio, 1991; Ginsberg and Davies, 2007). A transactional leader motivates followers with extrinsic motivators or punishes followers for failing to achieve the expectations established by the leader (Bass, 2006). In the school setting, for instance, transactional leadership occurs when students pursue goals to achieve parents' approval over their grades, to win scholarships, or for the social approval of their peers or teachers (Avolio & Bass, 2005).

In the late 1970s, James MacGregor Burns developed the concept of transformational leadership, which was initially positioned on the opposite side of a leadership continuum from transactional leadership (Bass, 2006). Burns (1978b) described the model of transformational leadership as containing three key components in which the leader 1) develops within followers a level of consciousness about the need and value of the outcomes of the organization as well as develops ways of reaching these goals; 2) motivates the followers to transcend their self-interests for the sake of the organization's goals; and 3) raises the followers' basic needs from a focus on lower-level concerns (e.g., safety and security) to higher level concerns such as achievement and self-actualization. After the concept of transformational leadership was introduced, Bass and Avolio (1991) further developed a continuum of effective leadership. This advanced model included the addition of laissez-faire leadership, which is characterized by a lack of any leadership effectiveness. With this revision, the continuum of leadership now had laissez-faire leadership at the lowest level, followed by transactional leadership, followed by transformational leadership at the highest level. As depicted in Figure 1, transformational leadership, then, accounts for variance in performance above and beyond both transactional and laissez-faire leadership (Avolio & Bass, 2004).

Ineffective leadership <>Effective leadership
Laissez-faire leadershipTransactional LeadershipTransformational leadership
Figure 1: A Continuum of Successful Leadership Behavior. Adapted from "Multifactor Leadership
Questionnaire Manual and Sample Set (3 rd Ed.)", by B.M. Bass, B.M. and B.J. Avolio, 2004, Menlo Park,

CA: Mind Garden, Inc. Copyright 2004 by Bernard Bass and Bruce Avolio. Adapted with permission.

Over the last thirty years, leadership scholars have continued to expand the model of transformational leadership to include five key elements, often referred to as the five I's (Avolio et al., 1991; Bass and Riggio, 2005). The first of the five I's is individualized consideration. A leader with a high level of individualized consideration will see each of his or her followers as unique persons with unique needs and will help these associates rise to their full potential (Avolio & Bass, 2005). The leader listens to the concerns of the followers and develops relationships with followers characterized by a high degree of empathy, honesty, integrity, support and open communication. The leader seeks to understand what motivates each employee and attempts to place each employee in a position where

his or her strengths can be maximized. As a result, followers view the leader as a role model and are driven to work hard for the leader and the organization.

The second element of transformational leadership is inspirational motivation. Leaders demonstrating inspirational motivation create and sustain a vision that is understood by and inspires followers. Leaders with a high level of inspirational motivation create a sense of optimism about future goals and communicate what is possible and how to obtain those possibilities. The followers of the leader believe in the optimistic vision for what the future holds and thus are motivated to work toward completing the established vision.

The third component of transformational leadership is intellectual stimulation. The leader welcomes followers to take risks, challenges existing frames of thought, and generates innovative ideas. Followers are permitted to question beliefs, assumptions, and values and even, at appropriate times, question the beliefs of the leader (Avolio & Bass, 2005). Leaders creating an environment full of intellectual stimulation reinforce creativity among their followers. Transformational leaders constantly push their followers to be life-long learners in order to develop new ideas that will help the organization.

Finally, idealized influence is the last component of transformational leadership. This final component, though, has been broken down into two areas: idealized influence attributes and idealized influence behaviors. A leader possessing this element develops a strong sense of trust with those in the organization. A transformational leader must demonstrate a high degree of honesty, integrity, and ethical behavior. These leaders often become a strong role model for their followers due to the level of respect and admiration for the leader and thus often obtain a strong sense of loyalty from their followers (Bono and Judge, 2004). A leader with idealized influence encourages development and helps inspire his or her associates to achieve their full potential (Avolio & Bass, 2005). In conclusion, a

16

transformational leader utilizes a motivational style which involves developing a clear organizational vision and organizing employees to work toward that vision by establishing strong connections with the employees, understanding the unique needs of employees, assisting employees in reaching their full potential, and ultimately contributing to positive outcomes for the organization (Fitzgerald and Schutte, 2010).

Research examining transformational leaders has demonstrated the positive effects of having a transformational leader, who motivates their associates to accomplish more than they originally thought possible (Avolio & Bass, 2004). During the earlier years of the transformational leadership model, Bass (1991) claimed that transformational leadership practices could be learned and should be the subject of leadership training and development. Utilizing meta-analysis to examine twenty-five years of transformational leadership studies, Wang et al. (2011) concluded that transformational leadership has a positive influence on employee performance across numerous work domains. With regard to schools, Leithwood and Jantzi (2000) concluded that transformational leadership has significant effects on organizational conditions and moderate effects on student engagement. A recent study not only found a strong relationship between transformational leadership and instructional leadership, as rated by teachers, but also found that three components of transformational leadership (intellectual stimulation, idealized influence (behavior), and individualized consideration) actually predicted positive instructional leadership behaviors (Finley, 2014). In short, given the current evidence, organizations appear to benefit from transformational leadership.

Measuring Transformational Leadership

While measuring leadership may be a challenge, one instrument, the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ 5X-Short) seeks to measure transformational leadership, transactional leadership and laissez-faire leadership (Antonakis et al., 2003). It focuses on leadership behaviors that motivate employees to transform individuals and organizations and is composed of five subscales: idealized influence (attributes), idealized influence (behavior), inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration (Avolio & Bass, 2004). Transactional leadership is further disaggregated into three subcategories: contingent reward leadership, management by exception (active), and management by exception (passive). Bass and Avolio (2004) noted an individual using management by exception (active) focuses on subordinates' mistakes and errors and attempts to take corrective action when mistakes occur, while a person using management by exception (passive) will wait for problems to arise before taking action to assist the situation. Thus, being active is better than being passive (Bass & Avolio, 2004). Finally, the most passive and ineffective type of leadership is nontransactional laissez-faire leadership, in which the individual avoids making decisions and clarifying expectations of people in the organization (Bass & Avolio, 2004).

The MLQ (5X-Short) measures nine components of these three types of leadership and includes a total of 45 items, with 36 items being used to measure the nine scales of leadership⁴ (Bass & Avolio, 2004). The remaining nine items measure the three leadership outcomes scales. While prior studies (e.g., Avolio et al., 1995) have illustrated the earlier versions of the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire demonstrated both sufficient construct validity and internal consistency, more recent research suggests the MLQ (5X-Short) has been validated by both confirmatory and discriminatory factor analysis (Avolio & Bass, 2004). Using a large sample size of 2,279 males and 1,089 females rating their business managers using the MLQ (5X-Short), Antonakis et al. (2003) concluded the MLQ (5X-Short) is both a valid and reliable measure of the components of transformational leadership. Bass and Avolio (2004) noted that prior research suggests that the MLQ (5X-Short) is strongly related to both individual and organization success and therefore has been the chief method to reliably differentiate ineffective from effective

⁴ The MLQ (5X-Short) uses four questions to measure each scale.

leaders in military, government, education, manufacturing, high technology, church, correctional, hospital, and volunteer settings.

Factors Contributing to Leadership

To date, there is not a clear understanding of the antecedents of transformational leadership. For centuries, scholars as well as leaders themselves have sought to understand the individual attributes and characteristics that help facilitate positive leadership behaviors vital to organizational performance. Throughout much of early history, the Great Man theory of leadership dominated. Members of society believed that a person was predestined to become a leader and born with the qualities and characteristics to rule over a country (Bass, 2006). In much of Europe, for instance, society embraced the concept of the Divine Right of Man, which articulated that leaders were chosen by God to lead the country (Spielvogel, 2005). Therefore, citizens believed those in governing positions possessed all the skills and abilities needed to successfully lead an empire.

For the last 100 years, scholars have been trying to identify what factors drive the emergence of leadership behaviors. In attempts to understand the age-old nature versus nurture debate about leadership, researchers have attempted to examine all factors influencing leadership emergence. As described in Bass (2006), the early stages of leadership research during the 1920s through 1940s focused on the common traits among individuals in leadership positions. During the humanistic era of the 1950s and 1960s, scholars largely agreed that leaders were the result of their environment instead of being the products of fortunate genetics. During the 1970s through the 1990s, researchers emphasized how the environment and the leader interact, thus developing leadership theories such as situational leadership. Finally, in the past 30 years, researchers began to utilize emerging neuroscience techniques and twin studies to highlight the role genetics and brain development may have on leadership emergence. Through these years of research, scholars have made evident that leadership is

the result of neither nature nor nurture in isolation (Arvey et al., 2006). Instead, the past one hundred years of leadership literature illustrates that leadership development is a dynamic process that involves genetic predispositions, environmental influences, as well as the leader's own mindset.

Genetic and Biological Factors of Leadership

Since genetic factors have shown to have some influence on whether an individual becomes a leader or not, the question then turns to examining which biological factors may have the greatest impact on leadership emergence. Psychologists have largely agreed that the construct of personality is largely biological and quite stable (Costa & McCrae, 1992). Almlund et al. (2011) noted how personality traits are as heritable as cognitive traits, but they are not set in stone. Based on this belief, researchers have worked to uncover what role personality has in leadership emergence and what personality traits are associated with effective leadership.

One of the most well-known models of personality is Costa and McCrae's (1992) Five Factor Model. The model posits there are five areas of personality: 1) openness (having an appreciation for adventure and curiosity, as well as a willingness to explore new concepts, ideas, and experiences), 2) conscientiousness (being organized and dutiful in completing tasks in a timely manner), 3) extraversion (being outgoing and welcoming the company of others), 4) agreeableness (preferring harmony and cooperation), and 5) neuroticism (having a lack of emotional stability) (Costa & McCrae, 1992). In examining the domains of the Five Factor Model with leadership, Judge et al. (2004) found that extraversion (r = .33), conscientiousness (r =.33), emotional stability (the inverse of neuroticism) (r = .24), and openness (r = .24) were all correlated with leadership emergence. This research suggests there is an identifiable relationship between personality and leadership emergence, with extraversion and conscientiousness having the strongest relationship to leadership emergence. In addition to personality, general intelligence has also been identified as an indicator of leadership emergence (Illies et al., 2004). In an examination of several studies, Zaccaro et al. (2004) concluded that leaders tended to have higher levels of intelligence than non-leaders. Judge et al. (2004) conducted a meta-analysis of 151 studies and reported that IQ and leadership were positively correlated at r = .27. Similarly, other leadership scholars have also reported a positive relationship between intelligence and leader performance (Antonakis, 2011; Bass, 2009). These findings come as no surprise, as it would be hard for organizations to promote someone into a leadership position without evidence the person is reasonably competent and intelligent. Regardless, Illies et al. (2004) concluded that the inherited aspects of personality and intelligence account for seventeen percent of leadership emergence, leading the authors to conclude that people are indeed born with genetic predispositions to emerge as leaders.

A growing body of literature describes how modern day neuroscience provides further clues on how intelligence influences leadership. Additionally, prior to the emergence of more modern techniques utilizing functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) and electroencephalogram (EEG) machines to analyze brain functioning in leaders, Sosik and Megerian (1999) concluded there appeared to be a link between emotional intelligence and transformational leaders. Using modern-day neuroimaging techniques, the evidence suggests there are differences in brain functioning between effective leaders as rated by others when compared to less effective leaders (Waldman et al., 2011). Additional research has found similar results in that effective leaders are likely to have higher levels of brain functioning in the frontal cortex, the region of the brain responsible for emotional regulation and emotional intelligence (Stackman & Devine, 2011). This finding may also shed light on and reinforce earlier research (e.g., Judge et al., 2004) regarding how emotional stability is related to leadership emergence. In sum, the recent evidence provided by neuroscience research supports the view that leadership is influenced by biological factors. In addition to personality and intelligence, physical characteristics have shown to influence leadership emergence. In modern day countries where most people meet their basic nutritional needs, height is largely a result of one's genetics. In examining the role of height and leadership emergence, Judge and Cable (2004) found that height was positively correlated with both leadership emergence and leadership performance. Further, a study conducted by Malcolm Gladwell (2005) found that the average height of male Fortune 500 CEOs was six feet zero inches, which is approximately three inches taller than the average American male. While only 14.5 percent of American males are six feet or taller, 58 percent of male CEOs of Fortune 500 companies reach that height. Further, only 3.9 percent of American males are at least six feet two inches tall, while 30 percent of Fortune 500 male CEOs stand that tall. This evidence implies that height, a largely genetically-driven characteristic, might aid in helping a person reach a leadership position within an organization. However, this research is only correlational in nature, and thus height cannot be said to be causing leadership attainment. Additional research illustrates, though, that height reflects increased earnings when controlling for age, weight, and sex, especially for careers that are highly social (Judge & Cable, 2004).

In furthering the understanding of how nature plays a role in a human's development, researchers have utilized monozygotic (identical) and dizygotic (fraternal) twins. Whereas dizygotic twins share only 50 percent of the same genetics, monozygotic twins share 100 percent. This makes them ideal candidates to enhance the knowledge base regarding the nature versus nurture debate. By examining twins in the study of leadership, researchers concluded that 30 percent of the variance in leadership role occupancy can be explained by genetic factors (Arvey et al., 2006).

Based on the existing evidence, the question of whether genetics plays a role in one's leadership potential suggests there is a relationship. Genetic predispositions influence whether a person is born with the traits and qualities that may assist them in becoming a leader; however, this role is quite minor. Personality studies, neuroscience research examining general and emotional intelligence, research on the influence of height, as well as twin studies support the notion that genetics may play some role in impacting leadership. This suggests the remaining factors related to leadership emergence and effectiveness falls somewhere outside of biology and genetics.

Environmental Factors of Leadership

Since biological factors cannot fully account for all of leadership emergence, the second area of influence to be investigated is that of the social environment. One's environment undoubtedly plays a large role in an individual's development into adulthood. With specific regard to the emergence of authentic transformational leadership, Sosik and Cameron (2010) concluded that a leader's life experiences play a much greater role in leadership development than does genetics. However, it must be asked then, what life experiences and forces within a person's social environment are shared by leaders?

Leadership development is a lifelong process (Avolio & Hannah, 2008). There is no magical moment when a person instantly becomes a leader; rather, leadership develops in a slow, evolutionary manner beginning from the early moments of one's life. From the moment a child is born, one of the greatest points of influence is the child's parents. Research on attachment, which is described as a long-standing bond of significant intensity that develops between a parent and child, has illustrated that parents play a crucial role in the development of children as early as the first stages of infancy (Armsden & Greenberg, 1987). From prior research, various types of attachment have been shown to be correlated with certain behaviors and traits in children and adolescents. In particular, research by Armsden and Greenberg (1987) suggests that adolescents with secure attachments to parents report greater satisfaction with themselves, a higher likelihood of seeking social support, and less symptomatic responses such as anxiety and depression to stressful life events. On the other hand, adolescents with less secure attachment to their parents have also been found to have greater levels of depression than

their peers with more secure parental attachments (Armsden et al., 1990). Additional research has also shown that those with secure attachments tend to have higher self-esteem than those with insecure attachments (Batholomew & Horowitz, 1991; Brennan & Bosson, 1998).

Parenting style, which is a related, yet separate construct to attachment also influences the development of a child. Baumrind (1967) noted the three types of parenting styles consist of permissive, authoritarian, and authoritative parenting styles. Permissive parents are characterized by being very caring toward their child, yet do not hold the child to high expectations. Authoritarian parents are very demanding toward their child but are not responsive to the child's needs. Lastly, authoritative parents are quite demanding, but they also provide the necessary emotional support to assist the child in meeting their high expectations. Subsequently, a fourth parenting style known as negligent, which is characterized by having low expectations for the child in addition to having low responsiveness to the child's needs, was added to this previous list (Maccoby & Martin, 1983). The literature examining parenting styles has illustrated that parenting styles are correlated with certain types of well-being among children and adolescents. For example, Lamborn et al. (1991) found that those raised with an authoritative parenting style had increased academic competence, lower levels of problematic behavior, and higher levels of psychosocial functioning.

Research has shown a positive relationship between parental levels of education and parenting styles, where parents with higher levels of education exhibit more authoritative styles of parenting characterized by being concerned about developing initiative in their children, providing opportunities for children to have an active role in discussing and creating rules for the home, and utilizing less punitive and harsh physical punishment than parents with lower levels of education (Hoff, Laursen, & Tardiff, 2002). Further, a more recent study found when examining longitudinal data and controlling for indices of socioeconomic status, IQ, and family interactions that levels of parental education measured

in middle childhood accounted for both educational success and occupational prestige at age 48 (Dubow, Boxer, & Huesmann, 2009).

Though these studies' findings on the role of parents are interesting, do these findings also shed light on leadership development? More recent research demonstrates that it does. In examining the relationship of parenting styles with leadership emergence, Avolio, Rotundo, and Walumbwa (2009) found that having authoritative parents who have high expectations along with high levels of support enhances leadership development. Interestingly, the study found that minor rule breaking in childhood is associated with leadership occupancy in adulthood. It appears that children who make poor decisions early in life and have the authoritative parents to help the child learn and grow from those experiences are more likely to grow into leaders capable of making sound decisions as adults. In other words, parents serve as the first leadership developer for children, teaching them how to make sense of experiences, treat individuals, persevere through challenging times, develop, and perform in ways that are required by leaders (Avolio, Rotundo, & Walumbwa, 2009).

Parents are not the only leadership mentors present throughout one's life. Rather, there are other individuals that impact leadership emergence through childhood, adolescence, and early adulthood. In examining the experiences of high school sports captains, Voelker (2011) found that adolescent leaders tend to learn about leadership by observing and interacting with others around them. In interviewing sports captains, many noted the crucial roles previous captains of their sports teams had on their development as leaders. Further, the athletes described that older siblings, community members, past coaches, and fathers helped prepare them for having a leadership role on their team. Finally, the team leaders also described how previous life experiences also played a vital role in helping to develop their leadership skills.

25

Even in adulthood, a person can continue the process of leadership development. Individuals often take part in educational activities and leadership development programs to cultivate leadership potential. This belief in the ability to develop leaders has helped the leadership development industry transform into a twelve billion dollar industry (Avolio & Hannah, 2008). In a meta-analysis analyzing the effectiveness of leadership development training, Collins and Holton (2004) stated that by participating in leadership development seminars that assure the right development is provided to the right people, individuals are able to develop the behaviors and competencies needed to become successful leaders within their organizations.

Of all the areas contributing to leadership development, one of the most studied areas is life experiences. Based on the leadership development literature, a common trend with leaders is that they have faced difficult times at certain points in their lives (Burke & Attridge, 2011). Prior research has advocated that challenging times may be linked to transformational leadership, where leaders must go through a challenging crisis to emerge as a transformational leader (Avolio & Gibbons, 1988; Sosik & Cameron, 2010). These challenging times have come to be called trigger events, which are described as experiences a person faces that ultimately change them in some way (Cooper, Scandura, & Schriesheim, 2005). These events provide leaders with important learning experiences and create fundamental shifts in how leaders view themselves and others as well as how leaders grow to understand their leadership role (Luthans, 2003; May et al., 2003). Faced with these situations, individuals will experience a tipping point where their behavior finally changes and improves their leadership functioning (Boyatzis, 2008).

In Collins (2001) work examining the concept of a Level 5 leader, the highest level of leader who builds enduring greatness through a paradoxical blend of personal humility and professional will, Collins described the life experiences and trigger events that helped foster the development of Level 5 leaders. Collins noted,
that some of the leaders in our study had significant life experiences that might have sparked or furthered their maturation. Darwin Smith fully blossomed after his experiences with cancer. Joe Cullman was profoundly affected by his World War II experiences, particularly the last-minute change of orders that took him off a doomed ship on which he surely would have died. A strong religious belief or conversion might also nurture development of Level 5 traits. (Collins, 2001, p.

37)

As described in this section, environmental factors may play an important role in a person's leadership development. The research suggests that having parents utilizing an authoritative parenting style, leadership mentors such as older peers, community members, coaches, and other supportive individuals throughout childhood, and opportunities provided by leadership development training can also facilitate leadership development. Also, life experiences play an immense role. The literature describes how notable leaders often experience very challenging and difficult periods of adversity, which provide these individuals invaluable opportunities to learn and grow.

Psychological Factors of Leadership

In addition to the previously described biological and social factors that influence leadership emergence, individuals' cognition can play an integral role in leadership emergence. In the leadership development literature, one of the concepts gaining attention is the idea of developmental readiness in leadership. Developmental readiness is described as the ability and motivation to attend to, make meaning of, and assimilate new leader knowledge, skills, abilities, and attributes into knowledge structures along with associated changes in identity to employ these knowledge, skills, abilities, and attributes (Hannah & Avolio, 2010). In other words, there exists a readiness to lead for individuals desiring leadership roles in which they feel confident they are ready to lead. With this in mind, the next step is to understand what psychological factors produce this readiness to lead.

In preparation to lead, people must have a firm understanding of themselves, and they must have a clear understanding of self-concept and self-awareness (Boyatzis & McKee, 2005). In doing so, they will ultimately quicken the speed at which they develop as leaders (Hannah & Avolio, 2010). Selfawareness and self-concept are not the only psychological factors that influence leadership, but selfesteem and confidence also impact the emergence of leadership. Not only do these factors influence leadership emergence, but research also supports that they also impact leadership styles associated with positive organizational outcomes. In a study examining self-esteem and leadership style, Schoel et al. (2011) found that leaders with higher levels of self-esteem are more likely to use autocratic leadership styles. Likewise, leaders also seem to possess high levels of confidence and a "never say die" attitude that assists them in pushing through adverse periods in life and overcoming obstacles (Saghal & Pathak, 2007).

Lastly, effective leaders exhibit high degrees of self-motivation. In his examination of 100 leaders across multiple disciplines, Han (2005) found that leaders have tremendous drive and ambition, as well as a highly competitive nature. In noting the characteristics of Level 5 leaders, Collins (2001) stated that "Level 5 leaders are fanatically driven, infected with an incurable need to produce results" (p. 30). Likewise, Level 5 leaders will rarely doubt or waver in their decisions but instead possess an incredibly high degree of motivation, thus permitting them to set the standard for success and do whatever it takes to achieve results. If a person wants to emerge as a leader, they must have the desire to become a leader (Boyatzis, 2008). In a longitudinal study examining leaders, Dannels et al. (2008) found that those who wanted to attain a higher leadership position were more likely to obtain the positions they desired compared to those that did not desire to attain a higher leadership position.

In recent decades, the concept of emotional intelligence has been gaining momentum and increasing popularity within the applied and academic area of leadership. The concept grew from the early research in the 1920s by psychologist Edward Thorndike during his work examining social intelligence. Later, Salovey and Mayer (1990) developed the term emotional intelligence as a way to describe one's ability to manage one's own as well as others' emotions. Psychologist Reuven Bar-On expanded this concept to include the ability to understand and manage others, while Daniel Goleman (1998) further developed these theories and brought emotional intelligence into the mainstream (Nadler, 2011).

Emotional intelligence is a key component of leadership (Boyatzis, 2009). Research has demonstrated that emotional intelligence provides significant advantages to individuals and their organizations (Ginsberg & Davies, 2007). Leaders that possess emotional intelligence have greater levels of initiative and are more adaptable, resilient, optimistic, as well as have flourishing careers and longlasting relationships (Nadler, 2011). Further, advocates of emotional intelligence assert that while general intelligence accounts for only four to ten percent toward a leader's success, emotional intelligence contributes as much as eighty-five to ninety percent of leadership success (Boyatzis & McKee, 2005; Goleman, 1998; Nadler, 2011).

Emotional intelligence consists of four domains: self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, and relationship management (Boyatzis & McKee, 2005). A leader with strong selfawareness has a keen understanding of his strengths and weaknesses and also has a tremendous amount of self-knowledge where he understands his needs and wants because he continuously engages in a process of self-reflection (Han, 2005). The second domain of emotional intelligence is selfmanagement, where leaders with high levels of self-management have the ability to stay calm during stressful situations by possessing high levels of emotional self-control. Individuals high in selfmanagement are highly adaptable and possess great achievement-oriented behavior, initiative, and optimism (Boyatzis & McKee, 2005).

The third domain of emotional intelligence is social awareness, in which a leader has the ability to sense others' emotions using empathy. In using this skill, they can gain a sense for the organizational climate and adjust their actions to meet the employees' or customers' needs. Those high in organizational awareness can sense the current state of the organization and decipher the politics of the institution in order to make positive decisions for the organization and its people (Cooper & Sawaf, 1996). Finally, the fourth domain of emotional intelligence is relationship management. Leaders high in this domain have the ability to motivate, empower, and inspire their employees. They use their influence and ability to develop others to help build productive bonds with people within and outside of the organization. They are highly effective at building a productive team using collaboration and conflict management (Boyatzis & McKee, 2005).

In sum, the psychological concept of emotional intelligence has received considerable attention over the last twenty years and has been studied among leadership scholars. Research suggests it is important in facilitating and promoting leadership effectiveness; however, because emotional intelligence has already been studied in great detail among leadership scholars, this study will attempt to examine another set of psychological factors, known as non-cognitive skills, which may also impact leadership effectiveness.

Non-cognitive Skills

Another realm of psychological factors that may impact leadership is known as non-cognitive skills. Whereas success has traditionally been best predicted by general intelligence, there is a growing awareness that other factors may contribute to positive life outcomes beyond general mental ability (Heckman & Kautz, 2012). The term given to this category of characteristics is called non-cognitive skills.

Though the term has been used for a few decades (e.g., Tracy & Sedlacek, 1982; Fuertes et al., 1994), non-cognitive skills began to gain greater attention through the work of economist and Nobel Prize laureate, James Heckman. Non-cognitive skills include concepts such as grit⁵, self-control, trust, attentiveness, self-esteem, self-efficacy, resiliency, openness to experience, empathy, humility, tolerance of diverse ideas, and the ability to productively engage in society (Heckman et al., 2014). In their work examining non-cognitive skills, Heckman and Kautz (2012) describe how "these attributes go by many names in the literature, including soft skills, personality traits, non-cognitive skills, non-cognitive skills as the academically and occupationally relevant skills and traits that are not specifically intellectual or analytical in nature. The term non-cognitive skills has taken favor over non-cognitive traits due to the fact that these factors are viewed as malleable skills, in which there are proven and effective methods to develop these qualities crucial for success (Heckman et al., 2014).

Non-cognitive skills are viewed as the missing ingredients that help explain the variation of any outcome above cognitive level (Heckman et al., 2014). Heckman and Rubenstein (2001) stated the importance of non-cognitive skills when studying GED recipients relative to high school graduates. Despite having similar levels of general intelligence as high school graduates, as measured by an intelligence test, the GED recipients went on to struggle in several key life outcomes. The GED recipients ended up earning less income as adults, having higher divorce and unemployment rates, and reporting higher rates of illicit drug use. Whereas forty-six percent of the high school graduates in the study enrolled in higher education, only three percent of those with a GED went on to further their education. Further research confirmed earlier work to illustrate that non-cognitive skills impact labor market outcomes and social behavior (Heckman et al., 2006). Rauber (2007) demonstrated that non-cognitive

⁵ Grit is described as the passion and perseverance of long-term goals (Duckworth and Quinn, 2009).

skills measured in adolescence were positively related to income, occupational prestige, and happiness in adults at the age of forty-three.

Non-cognitive skills are also studied by psychologists. Unlike economists, though, psychologists have traditionally called these non-cognitive skills socio-emotional skills, personality traits, and positive psychological constructs. Similarly to the behavioral economics research showing the positive relationship between non-cognitive skills and labor market outcomes, psychologists also have discovered that these qualities are key components to success and well-being. For instance, motivation and self-regulation have been found to be predictive of successful social development and well-being (Deci & Ryan, 1985; Eccles, 2002; Rauber, 2007). Noftle and Robins (2007) found that the personality trait of conscientiousness was positively correlated with students' GPA and SAT scores. Tagney et al. (2004) found self-control to be positively correlated with student grades, good adjustment, and interpersonal success while being negatively correlated with psychological pathology. Vohs and Faber (2007) discovered that having higher levels of self-regulation prevented individuals from having impulsive shopping habits. In examining the role self-discipline has on academic achievement, researchers discovered that self-discipline was twice as good as IQ at predicting student grades (Duckworth & Seligman, 2005). Altogether, the influence of self-control and self-discipline led some scholars to claim that willpower is the greatest of all human strengths (Baumeister & Tierney, 2011). Whereas these psychological factors have been largely viewed as being stable throughout a lifetime, new research illustrates some of these personality traits may be malleable throughout a person's life, especially in childhood and young adulthood (Cunha et al., 2006, Duckworth et al., 2011; Roberts et al., 2006).

Recognizing the similar characteristics they were analyzing, psychologists and economists since have joined forces in understanding these non-cognitive skills related to success. Together, these researchers have highlighted the importance of these non-cognitive skills or personality traits in numerous positive life outcomes, such as income levels of adults (Almlund et al., 2011; Borghans, et al., 2008). Further, educational research illustrates that non-cognitive skills serve as positive predictors of both teacher effectiveness and teacher evaluation ratings (Bastian, 2013). Carol Dweck (2006) highlighted the importance of developing a growth mindset in promoting academic achievement among students as well as workplace performance among adults.

Higher education is also beginning to sense the importance of these non-cognitive skills, as university administrators are starting to measure these non-cognitive skills in applicants (Kyllonen, Walters, & Kaufman, 2005). For example, the Educational Testing Service (ETS) recently released the SuccessNavigator, an instrument to measure applicants' and students' non-cognitive skills. In creating this instrument, they described how research supporting the importance of non-cognitive skills has not intended to show that cognitive ability is ineffective in predicting student success but is rather an incomplete way to predict success (Markle et al., 2013). In sensing the enthusiasm about the impact of these non-cognitive skills in selecting students for admissions, one Chronicle of Higher Education author titled his article, "Noncognitive Skills: The Next Frontier in College Admissions" and advocated that noncognitive skills are important predictors of college success (Hoover, 2013). More recently, in reference to helping students develop their full potential, the Office of Educational Technology at the United States Department of Education stated, "If students are to achieve their full potential, they must have opportunities to engage and develop a much richer set of skills. There is a growing movement to explore the potential of the "non-cognitive" factors—attributes, dispositions, social skills, attitudes, and intrapersonal resources, independent of intellectual ability—that high-achieving individuals draw upon to accomplish success" (United States Department of Education, 2013, p. 1).

In conclusion, there is a growing awareness to the role non-cognitive skills play in determining numerous successful outcomes. Literature from behavioral economics, psychology, and education are beginning to synthesize a better understanding of these factors and characteristics that drive life achievement and success (Heckman and Kautz, 2012). Although often referred to by different names, each of these academic disciplines describes the same set of characteristics. While it is clear these noncognitive skills are important for many life outcomes, there is a very limited literature that describes the relationship between non-cognitive skills and its potential relationship to leadership traits and activities.

Non-cognitive Skills and Leadership

In addition to the psychological factors such as emotional intelligence and components of the Big Five personality taxonomy (i.e., openness, conscientiousness, extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism), leadership scholars have examined other non-cognitive skills related to leadership. In reviewing the body of literature of these non-cognitive skills and character traits of leaders, Bass (2006) concluded:

> The leader is characterized by a strong drive for responsibility and completion of tasks, vigor and persistence in the pursuit of goals, venturesomeness and originality in problem solving, a drive to exercise initiative in social situations, self-confidence and a sense of personal identity, willingness to accept the consequences of his or her decisions and actions, readiness to absorb interpersonal stress, willingness to tolerate frustration and delay, ability to influence other people's behavior, and the capacity to structure social interaction systems to the purpose at hand. (p. 101)

The set of personal factors noted in Bass' characterization of effective leaders largely describe the non-cognitive factors of hope and grit.

Hope

Hope is defined as "goal-directed thinking in which the person utilizes pathways thinking (the perceived capacity to find routes to desired goals) and agency thinking (the requisite motivations to use those routes)" (Snyder & Lopez, 2005, p. 189). Research in psychology suggests that hope is different from other similar positive psychological constructs such as optimism, self-efficacy, and problem-solving (see Seligman, 2006; Bandura, 1994; Snyder et al., 2005, respectively). As a person works toward the pursuit of a goal, the individual may encounter a stressful event that could potentially block the intended route and prevent the individual from accomplishing the goal. It is at this moment when pathways thinking (i.e., developing alternate routes that circumvent the obstacle) is necessary. If a person is able to successfully navigate around the obstacle and continue the goal-directed behavior, then positive outcomes result. However, if the individual either lacks the agency (i.e., desire to move forward and pursue the goal) or the person cannot determine pathways (i.e., alternate routes to the goal), then the process of achieving a goal is hindered (Snyder, Rand, & Sigmon, 2005). Therefore, hope emphasizes reaching positive goal-directed outcomes instead of distancing oneself from negative outcomes (Snyder et al., 2005).

Individuals with higher levels of hope compared to those with lower levels of hope have been found to have higher academic achievement, greater success in athletics, better physical health, improved psychological adjustment, and positive outcomes in psychotherapy (Snyder & Lopez, 2005). Studies have shown that hope is correlated with higher grades, ability to handle negative stressors, as well as better scores on achievement tests, increased likelihood of graduating, and decreased likelihood of dropping out of school (Ciarrochi, Heaven, & Davies, 2007; Snyder et al., 2005; Valle, Huebner, & Suldo, 2006). Hope was also found to be a protective factor with regard to mental health concerns, reducing the severity of depression and anxiety symptoms (Arnau et al., 2007). In an examination of the hope literature, Lopez (2013) notes that hope leads to a twelve percent gain in academic achievement, a fourteen percent improvement in organizational outcomes, and a ten percent improvement in psychological well-being.

Like the literature examining other non-cognitive factors, however, the literature examining hope is sparse in its relationship to leadership. In their work examining successful leaders, Rath and Conchie (2008) found that having hopeful leaders was important for organizational success. Of employees who reported their leaders made them feel enthusiastic about their future, sixty-nine percent of the employees reported being engaged in their jobs. On the flip side, of the employees reporting their leaders did not make them feel enthusiastic about their future, only one percent of employees reported being engaged. Avey et al. (2006) found that employees with high levels of hope took less than three days of sick time throughout the year versus more than ten days of sick time for those with low levels of hope. Thus, research suggests that hope matters.

Grit

Another non-cognitive skill that has gained recent attention is grit, which is defined as a passion and perseverance for long-term goals (Duckworth et al., 2007). Although somewhat related to selfcontrol at levels of r = .60 or greater, grit is considered a separate construct (Duckworth et al., 2007). For instance, Duckworth and Gross (in press) note that whereas self-control involves continuing actions toward a valued goal despite on-going distractions over the short term (e.g., hourly temptations), grit is viewed as the ability to work toward a valued goal over the course of years or even decades without giving up.

In studying this non-cognitive skill, grit has been found to be a predictor of success in the National Spelling Bee contest, retention among West Point cadets in the United States Military Academy, teacher effectiveness, and teacher retention among novice teachers (Duckworth et al., 2009; Duckworth et al., 2010; Duckworth and Quinn, 2009; Robertson-Kraft and Duckworth, 2013). More recent work examining grit discovered that although grit predicted retention among United States Military Academy cadets, it did not predict performance among the group of cadets (Maddi et al., 2012). In a study examining college grades, Strayhorn (2013) found grit explained twenty-four percent of the variance in Black male's college grades that were attending predominantly white educational institutions. Eskries-Winkler et al. (2014) found that grit predicted positive outcomes such as the likelihood of soldiers completing the Army Special Operations Forces selection course, sales employees retaining their jobs, high school students graduating high school, and males staying married beyond a set of variables that included intelligence, physical aptitude, Big Five⁶ personality traits, and job tenure.

Like the previously mentioned non-cognitive skills, grit is a positive predictor of several important life outcomes. In examining research involving grit, though, there has been no published studies that examine the role of grit in predicting effective leadership behavior. Thus, a primary goal of this study will be to explore whether effective leaders, possessing and demonstrating transformational leadership behavior, are more likely to have higher levels of grit than those exhibiting less transformational leader behavior.

Measuring Non-cognitive Skills

Despite research suggesting non-cognitive skills are important for many successful life outcomes, there are considerable difficulties in attempting to measure these skills (Kyllonen et al., 2005). In describing the importance of measurement, Lopez and Snyder (2003) stated "If we are impressed with something that is labeled, we are even more impressed when some sort of measurement metric is attached to that named entity" (p. 23). Therefore, it is critical to have valid and reliable instruments to measure non-cognitive skills, for without these instruments, there would be no

⁶ The Big Five personality traits include openness to experience, conscientiousness, extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism.

way to assess the existence of these skills that research suggests are important. For this paper, two selfreport assessments will be utilized to measure the non-cognitive skills of hope and grit.

Since the study of hope began in the late 20th century, there have been at least 26 theories or definitions attempting to clarify and define the concept of hope (Lopez & Snyder, 2003). The dominant model of hope over the last 25 years, however, has been the model proposed by C.R. Snyder, where hope is defined as "a cognitive set that is based on a reciprocally derived sense of successful (a) agency (goal-directed determination) and (b) pathways (planning of ways to meet goals)" (Snyder et al., 1991, p. 570). To measure this model, Snyder developed The Adult Trait Hope Scale, which is made of twelve questions, with four questions assessing the agency subscale, four questions assessing pathways subscale, as well as four questions that serve as distractor items. The instrument uses an eight-point Likert scale ranging from "definitely false" to "definitely true". A total hope score is calculated by adding together the score on each of the items measuring agency and pathways. In summing these eight items, hope scores can range from eight to sixty-four, with sixty-four being the highest hope score possible.

The Adult Trait Hope Scale has demonstrated sound psychometric properties, including its reliability, which has demonstrated acceptable levels of internal consistency ($\alpha = .74 - .84$). This illustrates that all the items on the scale are assessing the same construct. The test-retest correlations have been above .80 over time periods of ten weeks or more, demonstrating that the construct of hope is not a state-dependent psychological construct. Further, The Adult Trait Hope Scale demonstrates discriminant validity when compared to other similar non-cognitive skills such as optimism and self-confidence (Lopez & Snyder, 2003), thus showing that it is a separate and unique construct from other positive psychological variables.

Grit is a relatively new construct measuring the trait-level passion and perseverance for longterm goals (Duckworth et al., 2007; Duckworth & Quinn, 2009). Duckworth et al. (2007) first developed the Grit Scale, which utilizes a five-point Likert scale to respond to twelve items such as "I finish whatever I begin" as well as reversed scored items such as "My interests change from year to year." A total grit score is calculated by reverse scoring the appropriate items, summing the score for each of the twelve items on the Grit Scale, and dividing the total score by twelve. Scores on the Grit Scale can range from one through five, with five being the highest grit score possible. Although there are no norms established for grit, Duckworth et al. (2007) found the mean grit score was 3.65 for a sample of 1,545 adults aged 25 and older. The instrument was found to have good internal consistency ($\alpha = .85$), thus providing evidence that the items on the Grit Scale are measuring the same construct (i.e., grit). The assessment uses a two-factor model, measuring for consistency of interests and perseverance of effort over extended periods of time. Analyses demonstrate that neither factor is more predictive of outcomes, thus leading the authors to recommend using total scores for the twelve-item instrument designed to measure grit (Duckworth et al., 2007).

Summary

The goal of this paper is to examine whether there is an identifiable relationship between noncognitive skills and transformational leadership behavior. There has been an abundance of research that has sought to understand the identifiable personal factors effective leaders share. Further, there is a growing body of research in psychology, education, and behavioral economics that suggests that noncognitive skills are related to many positive life outcomes. However, there has been little research examining the relationship between non-cognitive skills and effective leadership behavior. Because the term non-cognitive skills is so broad and could encompass hundreds of different personality traits and behavioral characteristics, it would be impossible to explore the role of all non-cognitive skills in one paper. Therefore, this paper examines the relationship of two specific non-cognitive skills, hope and grit, and their relationship with transformational leadership behavior.

CHAPTER 3

Methodology

The purpose of this study is to examine the relationship between the non-cognitive skills of hope and grit and transformational leadership behavior. The first two chapters of this paper introduced the topic of the study and provided a review of the literature describing the factors related to leadership as well as a review of the growing body of non-cognitive skills literature. The following study seeks to connect these bodies of literature to examine how hope and grit influence transformational leadership behavior. The study will focus on a sample of Kansas public elementary school principals who completed the survey and scale instruments used to assess hope and grit and self-reported transformational leadership behavior. The following section outlines the procedures used to collect data on the relationship between hope, grit, and transformational leadership behavior in Kansas elementary school principals.

Research Questions

The goal of this study is to examine the relationship between hope and grit and transformational leadership behavior. With this in mind, the three research questions guiding this study include:

- To what extent is there a relationship between a leader's level of hope and self-identified levels of transformational leadership behavior as measured by the MLQ (5X-Short)?
- 2) To what extent is there a relationship between a leader's level of grit and self-identified levels of transformational leadership behavior as measured by the MLQ (5X-Short)?
- 3) To what extent do hope and grit account for the variance in self-identified transformational leadership behavior when controlling for age, years of administrative experience, gender, high school grade point average, undergraduate grade point average, maternal level of education, and paternal level of education?

Null Hypotheses

The null hypotheses of the study include:

- There is no relationship between a leader's level of hope and his or her self-identified levels of transformational leadership behavior as measured by the MLQ (5X-Short).
- There is no relationship between a leader's level of grit and his or her self-identified levels of transformational leadership behavior as measured by the MLQ (5X-Short).
- 3) Hope and grit do not account for more variance in self-identified transformational leadership behavior than age, years of administrative experience, gender, high school grade point average, undergraduate grade point average, maternal level of education, and paternal level of education.

Examination of Variables

The study applied quantitative methods to understand the relationship between non-cognitive skills (i.e., hope and grit) and transformational leadership behavior. Data for this study were collected using The Adult Trait Hope Scale, the Grit Scale, the MLQ (5X-Short), as well as demographic data collected in a short survey. The independent variables of interest were the leaders' levels of hope and grit, as measured by The Adult Trait Hope Scale and the Grit Scale, respectively. In assessing levels of hope, participants completed only eight items on the instrument used to generate a hope score. The four distractor items included in the full instrument were not utilized in order to limit the number of items each participant had to complete in attempt to improve the sample size of the study. The level of grit was measured by the subject's score on the 12-item Grit Scale, as developed by Duckworth et al. (2007). The dependent variable for this study was the subjects' transformational leadership behavior scores on the MLQ (5X-Short). The transformational leadership model was used in this study because of the ample supply of studies demonstrating its ability to predict positive organizational outcomes in

several fields, including education (see Avolio & Bass, 2004; Leithwood & Jantzi, 2000; Finley, 2014; Kirby et al., 1992). Further, the MLQ (5X-Short) was used because it is a valid and reliable method to operationally define transformational leadership (Avolio & Bass, 2004; Kirby et al., 1992). In this study, subjects took the self-report leader version of the MLQ (5X-Short). Since the purpose of this paper is to examine only transformational leadership behavior, participants responded only to the twenty questions on the MLQ (5X-Short) that measured transformational leadership behavior. A single total transformational leadership score was created by adding together the scores of the items assessing the five subscales of the transformational leadership model (i.e., individualized consideration, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, idealized influence attributes, and idealized influence behaviors).

In order to isolate the variables of interest from factors not associated with grit or hope, a demographic survey was used to collect data related to the control variables. Some of these variables (i.e., gender, age, and years of administrative experience) were included for descriptive purposes while the other variables were included to account for personal factors that may be associated with transformational leadership behavior. For example, high school grade point average, undergraduate grade point average, and ACT scores were used as proxies of cognitive ability while parental levels of education were used as a way to control for a person's family background (e.g., parenting style, attachment, etc.), which research has demonstrated to influence positive leadership behavior. A list of variables is included in Table 1.

Table 1: List of Study Variables

Variable	Type of Variable	Description/Definition	Measurement
Transformational Leadership	Dependent variable of interest	The ability to proactively raise follower awareness for collective interests and help followers achieve extraordinary goals (Antonakis et al., 2003)	Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (5X-Short) (20 items)
Норе	Independent variable of interest	Goal-directed thinking in which people perceive that they can produce routes to desired goals (pathways thinking) and the requisite motivation to use those routes (agency thinking). (Lopez & Snyder, 2003, p. 94)	Trait Hope Scale (8 items)
Grit	Independent variable of interest	Passion and perseverance for long term goals (Duckworth et al., 2007)	The Grit Scale (12 items)
Undergraduate GPA	Control	Cumulative grade point average during undergraduate program	Self-report continuous range on a 4.0 scale
Maternal Level of Education	Control	Highest degree earned by the subject's mother	Self-report Scaled Range 0 = less than high school 1 = high school/GED 2 = some college 3 = bachelor's degree 4 = master's degree 5 = doctorate/professional degree 6 = does not know/does not apply
Paternal Level of Education	Control	Highest degree earned by the subject's father	Self-report Scaled Range 0 = less than high school 1 = high school/GED 2 = some college 3 = bachelor's degree 4 = master's degree 5 = doctorate/professional degree 6 = does not know/does not apply
Gender	Control	Gender of the subject	Self-report male female
Years of Administrative Experience	Control	Years serving as a licensed school administrator	Self-report years of experience continuous range
ACT Score	Control	Score earned on the ACT	Self-report continuous range
High School GPA	Control	Cumulative unweighted grade point average earned during high school	Self-report continuous range on a 4.0 scale

Sample Population

Participants in this study (n=116) included a sample of Kansas elementary principals. For the purpose of this study, an elementary principal was defined as a professional school employee possessing a license to serve as an educational administrator at the elementary level and who is currently employed as a principal (Kansas State Department of Education, 2014). Elementary school administrators in Kansas were chosen using a convenience sample to be the leaders investigated. In order to increase the potential sample size, there are a greater number of elementary principals than middle school principals, high school principals, or superintendents in Kansas. Therefore, this population was utilized in the study in hopes of obtaining the largest possible sample size. Elementary school administrators (KUSA) organization with the goal of obtaining a sample size of approximately 100 participants, which is similar to other studies examining non-cognitive skills (e.g., Duckworth & Seligman, 2005; Saxe, 2011). This sample size was deemed appropriate because it would provide enough participants to determine whether there was a relationship between the variables while still creating statistically significant results (Slavin, 2007).

Data Collection

In the first phase of data collection, an email message describing the study was sent to the Kansas elementary school principals on the list provided by KUSA. The email explained the purpose of the study, invited participation to the study, and provided a survey link to access the instruments. The link began with an opening webpage that informed the participants that by clicking on the following link, they provided consent and agreed to participate in the study. Next, participants took the instruments to measure hope (Appendix A), grit (Appendix B), transformational leadership behavior (Appendix C,) as well as demographic data (Appendix D). The Adult Trait Hope Scale and the Grit Scale are public domain for research purposes, while the creators of the MLQ (5X-Short) permit usage of the instrument after purchasing a license to reproduce the instrument from Mind Garden, Inc. (Appendix E). All four instruments were reproduced in an online single survey using Qualtrics to simplify the process for the participants. The Qualtrics survey instruments were password protected, thus limiting access to participation via invitation only.

Data Analysis

Data were collected, recorded, and analyzed using Microsoft Excel to tabulate administrators' responses on The Adult Trait Hope Scale, the Grit Scale, the MLQ (SX-Short), and the demographic survey. The data were then imported in Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) and examined, with each variable analyzed to evaluate whether normal distributions were obtained. While some variables such as hope and administrative tenure showed evidence of a negative and positive skew, respectively, the dependent variable of transformational leadership behavior demonstrated normal distribution. Because the assumption of normality in regression modeling was met by the dependent variable of the study (i.e., transformational leadership behavior), it was not necessary to normalize the other data in this study. To analyze the first two proposed research questions, Pearson product moment correlations were used to examine the relationship of the two non-cognitive skills and transformational leadership behavior. Finally, to examine the impact of hope and grit above and beyond the control variables, multiple linear regression analyses were used to examine this relationship. These regression analyses permitted the ability to hold constant a variety of factors related to transformational leadership such as age, gender, years of administrative experience, grade point averages, and maternal/paternal levels of education.

Ethical Considerations

All participants indicated consent to take part in the study, and as noted in Appendix F, participation in the study was voluntary. To help protect confidentiality, no identifying data such as the participants' names or places of employment were collected. Participants were given the option to decline participation or choose to no longer participate in the study. Participants were not compensated in any manner, and all data collected as part of the study were kept confidential and in a locked and secure location within a password protected computer. Data were kept through the duration of the study and dissertation process and are to be destroyed upon conclusion of the study.

Limitations

Slavin (2007) notes that external validity can be a common threat to research in education. Thus, one limitation of the study involves the generalizability of the results. Due to the challenge in getting educational leaders to complete several instruments, obtaining a large enough sample size to generalize the results to elementary educational leaders across the state of Kansas was a challenge. Secondly, another limitation involved using self-report instruments to measure both non-cognitive skills and leadership effectiveness. For instance, the MLQ (5X-Short) Self Form measures the potentially biased self-perception of leaders' transformational leadership behavior. Leaders could inflate their scores of their own perceived leadership behavior relative to having subordinates or superiors complete the form describing the leader's observed behavior.

CHAPTER 4

Results

The goal of this study was to examine the relationship between the non-cognitive skills of hope and grit and transformational leadership behavior in elementary education principals in Kansas. With the first research question, the study attempted to understand the relationship between hope and selfreported transformational leadership behavior, while the second research question sought to understand the relationship between grit and self-reported transformational leadership behavior. With the third research question, the study attempted to examine whether hope and grit account for more of the variance in self-identified transformational leadership behavior than age, years of administrative experience, gender, high school grade point average, undergraduate grade point average, maternal level of education, and paternal level of education. Multiple null hypotheses were tested to address each of the aforementioned research questions. The following chapter presents the statistical analyses completed in the study to answer the research questions.

Descriptive Statistics

Of the 670 Kansas elementary administrators sent a request to participate in the study, 139 elementary administrators responded to the survey. However, of this group only 116 completed all the instruments. Due to the need of having all items of the instruments completed in order to provide a valid hope, grit, and transformational leadership score, this study analyzed only the results provided by the sample of 116 respondents that completed the survey in its entirety. To identify and avoid any elimination bias, statistical analyses were run to compare the means and standard deviations of all variables collected in the sample of 139 principals versus the sample of 116 principals. The mean scores of the sample of 139 principals was calculated by first removing the total scores for transformational leadership behavior, hope, and grit for any subject that did not have every item completed on each respective assessment. For example, if an administrator did not complete all twelve items on the Grit

Scale, the total grit score was deleted for that particular subject while the hope and transformational leadership behavior total scores of that subject were retained. Mean scores were then calculated using the remaining information. This same process was then utilized to examine the mean scores and standard deviations of the 23 subjects from the original sample size of 139 that did not complete every item on the various instruments. As described in Table 2, comparison of the means and standard deviations demonstrated there was not a significant difference in scores for the variables in each sample. These results suggested the samples were quite similar in nature. Thus, respondents that had missing data were removed from the data analysis, leaving a final sample size of 116.

Table 2

Mean Scores and Standard Deviations for Various Sa	mples	(n = 139, n = 116, and n = 23)
----------------------------------------------------	-------	--------------------------------

	x (n = 139)	SD (n = 139)	x (n = 116)	SD (n = 116)	x (n = 23)	SD (n = 23)
TL	85.10	8.86	85.15	8.13	84.13	6.58
Grit	3.88	.46	3.90	.48	3.72	.53
Норе	57.44	3.95	57.43	3.95	57.50	4.11
Age	48.90	9.14	49.47	8.98	46.37	10.25
Years Served	10.44	8.08	10.53	8.16	9.63	7.57
HS GPA	3.45	.43	3.48	.42	3.32	.59
U GPA	3.49	.36	3.52	.36	3.42	.49
Mother Ed	3.03	1.21	3.03	1.21	3.11	1.29
Father Ed	3.08	1.49	3.06	1.48	3.16	1.57

Note: TL = transformational leadership, Years Served = number of years served as an elementary administrator, HS GPA = high school grade point average, U GPA = undergraduate grade point average, Mother Ed = mother's highest level of education earned (1 = less than high school, 2 = high school/GED, 3 = some college/associate's degree, 4 = bachelor's degree, 5 = master's degree, 6 = doctoral degree), Father Ed = father's highest level of education earned (1 = less than high school, 2 = high school/GED, 3 = some college/associate's degree, 4 = bachelor's degree, 5 = master's degree, 6 = doctoral degree).

Of the sample of 116 elementary administrators, 65 (56 percent) were male and 51 (44 percent) were female. As illustrated in Table 3, ages of the respondents in the sample of 116 administrators ranged from 30 to 67, with an average age of 49.47 years (SD = 9.0 years). As shown in Figure 2, years of administrative experience as an elementary school principal ranged from 1 year to 39 years, with an average of 10.53 years as an elementary school administrator (SD = 8.2 years). The respondents earned

an average high school grade point average of 3.48/4.00 (SD = .42) and an average undergraduate grade point average of 3.52/4.00 (SD = .36).⁷ Finally, the highest level of education earned by the respondents' mothers and fathers ranged from having less than a high school diploma to having a doctoral degree,

with the average respondents' mother and father both having the equivalent of some

college/associate's degree.

Table 3

Descriptive Statistics

	Minimum	Maximum	x	SD
Transformational Leadership	66.00	100.00	85.15	8.13
Grit	2.00	5.00	3.90	.48
Норе	42.00	64.00	57.43	3.95
Age	30.00	67.00	49.47	8.98
Years Served	1.00	39.00	10.53	8.16
HS GPA	2.20	4.00	3.48	.42
U GPA	2.50	4.00	3.52	.36
Mother Ed	1.00	6.00	3.03	1.21
Father Ed	1.00	6.00	3.06	1.48

Note: Years Served = number of years served as an elementary administrator, HS GPA = high school grade point average, U GPA = undergraduate grade point average, Mother Ed = mother's highest level of education earned (1 = less than high school, 2 = high school/GED, 3 = some college/associate's degree, 4 = bachelor's degree, 5 = master's degree, 6 = doctoral degree), Father Ed = father's highest level of education earned (1 = less than high school, 2 = high school/GED, 3 = some college/associate's degree, 4 = bachelor's degree, 5 = master's degree, 6 = doctoral degree), Father Ed = father's highest level of education earned (1 = less than high school, 2 = high school/GED, 3 = some college/associate's degree, 4 = bachelor's degree, 5 = master's degree, 6 = doctoral degree).

⁷ The average ACT score reported was 23 (SD = 4.12); however, these data were eliminated from the data analysis due to so few school administrators (n = 54) reporting their ACT scores. Attempts were made to input the average ACT score (23.35) for missing ACT data points. Analyses illustrated that adding the average ACT score to the missing data points created statistically insignificant results. Therefore, the researcher decided to exclude the ACT control variable from the data set.



Figure 2. Histogram of Years Served as School Principal

As shown in Table 4, compared to the larger population of school administrators in Kansas, these data demonstrate some commonalities with state and national averages. For instance in Kansas, the percent of male to female elementary administrators is 70.3 percent to 29.7 percent, respectively, while the average age of elementary education principals is 47 years with an average of 8.1 years' experience working as a school principal (U.S. Department of Education, 2012). National data illustrate that the average public school elementary principal is 48 years with an average of 7.2 years' experience working as a school principal. Of this national sample, 48.4 percent were male and 51.6 percent were female (U.S. Department of Education, 2012). The percent of female school principals (44 percent) closely resembled the national average (48 percent) but was higher than the Kansas average (30 percent). Finally, the average total years served as an elementary administrator was slightly higher in this sample (10.53 years) than the Kansas average (8.1 years) and national average (7.2 years).

Table 4

	Sample (n)	Kansas	National
Age	49.47	47.00	48.00
Percent Female	44.00	29.70	48.40
Years of Principal Experience	10.53	8.10	7.20

Representativeness of Sample to Population

Research Question 1

To what extent is there a relationship between a leader's level of hope and self-identified levels of transformational leadership behavior as measured by the MLQ (5X-Short)?

To test the null hypothesis of this first research question, a Pearson product moment correlation was analyzed to examine the relationship between hope and transformational leadership behavior. This statistical analysis was selected because both hope and transformational leadership behavior scores are continuous variables, making Pearson product moment correlations the appropriate test to assess the degree and direction of the relationship between these two variables. The null hypothesis for the first research question was as follows:

H_{0:} There is no relationship between a leader's level of hope and his or her self-identified levels of transformational leadership behavior as measured by the MLQ (5X-Short).

Scores on The Adult Trait Hope Scale ranged from a low score of 42 to a high score of 64, with the highest score possible being 64. The mean score was 57.43 (SD = 3.948). The correlation matrix shown in Table 5 depicts the Pearson correlations between all variables of the study.

Table 5

	М	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. TL	85.15	8.133	-	.453**	.493**	.145	.198*	.090	026	.011	.117	.143
2. Grit	3.90	.480		-	.326**	.152	.129	.141	031	.047	019	126
3. Hope	57.43	3.948			-	010	.208*	053	.096	.099	.073	.122
4. Age	49.47	8.982				-	.064	.593**	.002	162	057	114
5. Female	-	-					-	071	.338**	.164	120	001
6. Years Served	10.53	8.160						-	063	098	027	014
7. HS GPA	3.48	.422							-	.514**	119	.047
8. U GPA	3.52	.361								-	096	050
9. Mother Ed	3.03	1.210									-	.423**
10. Father Ed	3.06	1.477										-

Intercorrelations between Study Variables

Note: Total=116. * p < .05, **p < .01. TL = self-identified transformational leadership, Female (0 = male, 1 = female), Years Served = number of years served as an elementary administrator, HS GPA = high school grade point average, U GPA = undergraduate grade point average, Mother Ed = mother's highest level of education earned (1 = less than high school, 2 = high school/GED, 3 = some college/associate's degree, 4 = bachelor's degree, 5 = master's degree, 6 = doctoral degree), Father Ed = father's highest level of education earned (1 = less than high school, 2 = high school/GED, 3 = some college/associate's degree, 4 = bachelor's degree, 5 = master's degree, 6 = doctoral degree), Father Ed = father's highest level of education earned (1 = less than high school, 2 = high school/GED, 3 = some college/associate's degree, 4 = bachelor's degree, 5 = master's degree, 6 = doctoral degree).

When examining the control variables of the study, there were some notable correlations

shown in Table 5. In using a point-biserial correlation due to gender being a dichotomous variable, results showed there was a statistically significant correlation (r_{pb} = .198, p < .05) between gender and transformational leadership behavior. Thus, of those examined in the study, females were more likely to report exhibiting transformational leadership behaviors than their male counterparts. Additionally, females were more likely to be hopeful (r_{pb} = .208, p < .05) and more likely to have earned a higher high school grade point average (r_{pb} = .338, p < .01) than the males in the study. Next, hope and grit were positively related (r = .326, p < .01). As would be expected, age and years served as an administrator were related (r = .593, p < .01), as were high school and undergraduate grade point average (r = .514, p < .01), as well as the highest level of education earned by the respondents' mothers and fathers (r = .423,

p < .01). As illustrated in Figure 3⁸, the results illustrated a positive correlation between hope and selfidentified transformational leadership behavior (r = .493, p < .001), thus leading to a rejection of the null hypothesis, suggesting that there is a positive relationship between hope and self-identified transformational leadership behavior.



Figure 3. Scatter Plot Correlation: Hope's Relation to Elementary Administrators' Self-Identified Transformational Leadership Behavior

⁸ To examine whether outliers were influencing the results of the correlation and regression analyses of the study, separate analyses were conducted after removing the outliers from the data set. Removal of the outliers resulted in negligible parameter differences and no changes in the level of statistical significance (p < .001) compared to the original data set.

The next part of the analysis involved linear regression modeling to examine the effects of hope on selfidentified transformational leadership behavior. The full model is shown below:

$$TL_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Hope + \varepsilon_i$$

where TL = transformational leadership score, i = individual respondent, β_0 = constant, Hope = values from The Adult Trait Hope Scale, and ϵ_i = error. As described in Table 6, linear regression modeling showed that 24.3 percent of the variance in transformational leadership can be explained by hope (F(1,114) = 36.513, p<.001). The results of the regression equation relating to this first research question examining hope and transformational leadership is shown in Table 6. These results suggest that hope is a positive predictor of self-identified transformational leadership behavior. Specifically, the linear regression model suggests that a one point increase in levels of hope predicts a 1.015 point increase in elementary principals' level of transformational leadership behavior (p < .001).

Table 6

Summary of Hope Regression Analysis Predicting Self-identified Transformational Leadership Behavior

Regression Equation 1			
Dependent Variable: Self-identi	fied Transformational Lead	ership Behavior F = 36.513	$R^2 = .243$
	В	SEB	β
Constant	26.875***	9.666***	
Норе	1.015***	.168***	.493***
No. N. 446 *** 004			

Note. N = 116. ***p < .001.

To further explore the relationship of hope and transformational leadership, an additional regression analysis was run to examine how the specific items in The Adult Trait Hope Scale (i.e. each question on The Adult Trait Hope Scale) related to transformational leadership behavior. This procedure was conducted to examine what factors of hope may be most related to transformational leadership behavior. The model for this multiple regression, which utilized the forced entry method of regression analysis, is shown below:

$TL_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Hopeltems + \epsilon_i$

where TL = transformational leadership score, i = individual respondent, β_0 = constant, and HopeItems is
a vector of questions one through eight on The Adult Trait Hope Scale, and ϵ_i = error. Table 7 depicts
the Pearson product correlations of each item relative to transformational leadership behavior while
Table 8 shows the regression analysis examining hope and transformational leadership behavior. These
results show that while seven of the eight hope items were positively correlated with transformational
leadership behaviors at a statistically significant level (p<.05), only question two ("I energetically pursue
my goals") (B = 2.474, p<.05) and question five ("Even when others get discouraged, I know I can find a
way to solve the problem") (B = 2.749, p<.05) serve as statistically significant predictors of
transformational leadership behavior, as shown in Table 8.

Table 7

Intercorrelations between The Adult Trait Hope Scale Items and Self-Identified Transformational Leadership Behavior

Hope 1	I can think of many ways to get out of a jam.	.082
Hope 2	I energetically pursue my goals.	.477**
Hope 3	There are lots of ways around any problem.	.210*
Hope 4	I can think of many ways to get the things in life that are most important to me.	.447**
Hope 5	Even when others get discouraged, I know I can find a way to solve the problem.	.483**
Hope 6	My past experiences have prepared me well for my future.	.327**
Hope 7	I've been pretty successful in life.	.298**
Hope 8	I meet the goals that I set for myself.	.407**

* p < .05. ** p < .01 level.

Table 8

Regression Equation 2						
Dependent Variable: Self-	Dependent Variable: Self-identified Transformational Leadership Behavior					
	В	SEB	β			
Constant	14.778	10.014				
Hope 1	-1.357	.719	188			
Hope 2	2.474	1.028	.223*			
Hope 3	.895	.811	.108			
Hope 4	2.091	1.144	.180			
Hope 5	2.749	1.147	.235*			
Hope 6	.539	1.116	.047			
Hope 7	.084	1.211	.007			
Hope 8	2.311	1.319	.156			

Summary of The Adult Trait Hope Scale Items Regression Analysis of Self-identified Transformational Leadership Behavior

Note. N = 116. *p < .05.

In response to the first research question examining the relationship between hope and selfidentified transformational leadership behavior, there appears to be a positive relationship between these two variables. Further, the regression analysis showed that hope plays a significant role in transformational leadership behavior in this sample of elementary educational administrators. As such, the null hypothesis of the first research question can be rejected, suggesting that there exists a positive relationship between hope and self-identified transformational leadership behavior.

Research Question 2

<u>To what extent is there a relationship between a leader's level of grit and self-identified levels of</u> <u>transformational leadership behavior as measured by the MLQ (5X-Short)?</u>

To test the null hypothesis of this second research question, a Pearson product moment correlation was analyzed to examine the relationship between grit and transformational leadership behavior. The null hypothesis for the first research question was as follows:

H_{0:} There is no relationship between a leader's level of grit and his or her self-identified levels of

transformational leadership behavior as measured by the MLQ (5X-Short).

Scores on the Grit Scale ranged from a low score of 2.75 to a high score of five, with the highest score possible being five. The mean score was 3.90 (SD = 0.448). As shown in Figure 4, the results illustrated a positive correlation between grit and self-identified transformational leadership behavior (r = .453, p < .001), thus allowing the rejection of the null hypothesis, suggesting a positive relationship between grit and self-identified transformation.



Figure 4. Scatter Plot Correlation: Grit's Relation to Elementary Administrators' Self-Identified Transformational Leadership Behavior

A linear regression model was used to analyze the effect of grit on transformational leadership behavior. The model is shown below:

$$TL_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Grit + \varepsilon_i$$

where TL = transformational leadership score, i = individual respondent, β_0 = constant, Grit = values from the Grit Scale, and ϵ_i = error. Results in Table 9 showed that 20.5 percent of the variance of transformational leadership behaviors is likely explained by grit (F(1,114) = 29.442, p<.001). These results suggest that grit is a positive predictor of self-identified transformational leadership behavior.

Table 9

Summary of Grit Regression Analysis Predicting Self-identified Transformational Leadership Behavior

Regression Equation 3			
Dependent Variable: Self-ide	ntified Transformational Lead	dership Behavior	
		F = 29.442	R ² = .205
	В	SEB	β
Constant	53.067***	5.951***	
Grit	8.234***	1.518***	.453***
N . N 44C *** . 004			

Note. N = 116. *** p < .001.

To further explore the relationship of grit and transformational leadership behavior, an additional regression analysis was run to examine how the specific items in the Grit Scale relate to transformational leadership behavior. This procedure was done to explore what aspects of grit may be most predictive of transformational leadership behavior. Table 10 depicts the Pearson product correlations of each item relative to transformational leadership behavior, and Table 11 illustrates the regression analysis. The regression equation, which utilized the forced entry method of regression analysis, is shown below:

 $TL_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 GritItems + \varepsilon_i$

where TL = transformational leadership score, i = individual respondent, β_0 = constant, and GritItems = a vector of questions one through twelve on the Grit Scale, and ε_i = error. Eight of the twelve items on the Grit Scale were positively correlated with transformational leadership behavior at a statistically significant level of p < .01, while two of the items were correlated at a level of p < .05. In examining the regression analysis, however, only items one ("I have overcome setbacks to conquer an important challenge") (B = 3.426, p < .001) and twelve ("I am diligent") (B = 3.004, p < .05) served as statistically significant predictors of transformational leadership behavior.

Table 10

Intercorrelations between Grit Scale Items with Self-Identified Transformational Leadership Behavior

Grit 1	I have overcome setbacks to conquer an important challenge.	.457**
Grit 2	New ideas and projects sometimes distract me from previous ones.	.186*
	(Reverse)	
Grit 3	My interests change from year to year. (Reverse)	.257**
Grit 4	Setbacks don't discourage me.	.257**
Grit 5	I have been obsessed with a certain idea or project for a short time but	.220*
	later lost interest. (Reverse)	
Grit 6	I am a hard worker.	.332**
Grit 7	I often set a goal but later choose to pursue a different one. (Reverse)	.118
Grit 8	I have difficulty maintaining my focus on projects that take more than a	.265**
	few months to complete. (Reverse)	
Grit 9	I finish whatever I begin.	.281**
Grit 10	I have achieved a goal that took years of work.	.306**
Grit 11	I become interested in new pursuits every few months. (Reverse)	.039
Grit 12	I am diligent.	.377**

* p < .05. ** p < .01 level.

Table 11

Summary of Grit Scale Items Regression Analysis of Self-identified Transformational Leadership Behavior

Regression Equa	ation 4		
Dependent Vari	able: Self-Identified Transf	ormational Leadership Behavio	or
	В	SEB	β
Constant	41.737*	8.518*	
Grit 1	3.426***	.805***	.352***
Grit 2	.338	.845	.038
Grit 3	1.594	1.009	.162
Grit 4	.723	.755	.087
Grit 5	.739	1.089	.075
Grit 6	2.101	1.927	.105
Grit 7	269	1.054	.026
Grit 8	.761	.863	.088
Grit 9	918	1.320	087
Grit 10	-5.515	1.138	049
Grit 11	555	.793	060
Grit 12	3.004*	1.311*	.268*

Note. N = 116. *p < .05. ***p < .001.

The null hypothesis of the second research question can be rejected, as these results suggest there is a positive relationship between a leader's level of grit and self-identified levels of transformational leadership behavior. Although not as strong as hope, the regression analysis showed that grit plays a role in transformational leadership behavior in this sample of elementary educational administrators.

Research Question 3

To what extent do hope and grit account for the variance in self-identified transformational leadership behavior beyond age, years of administrative experience, gender, high school grade point average, undergraduate grade point average, maternal level of education, and paternal level of education?

To examine the third research question, multiple linear regression analyses were utilized to examine whether hope and grit account for more of the variance in self-identified transformational leadership behavior than age, years of administrative experience, gender, high school grade point average, undergraduate grade point average, maternal level of education, and paternal level of education. Thus, the null hypothesis for this third research question was the following:

H₀: Hope and grit do not account for more variance in self-identified transformational leadership behavior than age, years of administrative experience, gender, high school grade point average, undergraduate grade point average, maternal level of education, and paternal level of education.

In order to examine whether hope and grit account for more variance in transformational leadership behavior than the control variables, three regression analyses were run. First, as shown in Model 1 of Table 10, the first multiple regression analysis involved using hope and grit only. This regression analysis is shown below:

 $TL_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Hope + \beta_2 Grit + \varepsilon_i$

where TL = transformational leadership score, i = individual respondent, β_0 = constant, Hope = values from The Adult Trait Hope Scale, and Grit = values from the Grit Scale, and ϵ_i = error. This model showed that hope and grit account for 33.8 percent of the variance in self-identified transformational leadership behavior (F(2,113) = 28.878, p < .01). Following this regression analysis, a second multiple regression analysis, as shown below, was analyzed to investigate the role of the control variables in predicting transformational leadership without hope and grit present.

$$TL_i = \beta_0 + Covariates\beta_1 + \varepsilon_i$$

where TL = transformational leadership score, i = individual respondent, β_0 = constant, Covariates = a vector of covariates including age, years of administrative experience, gender, high school grade point average, undergraduate grade point average, maternal level of education, and paternal level of education, and ϵ_i = error. As shown in Model 2 in Table 11, this analysis suggests these control variables account for 11.5 percent of the variance (F(7,106) = 1.974, p < .10), with only female gender (B = 4.132, p < .05) serving as a statistically significant predictor of self-identified transformational leadership behavior.

Finally, a multiple regression model was run, as shown below, containing hope, grit, and the control variables (i.e., age, years of administrative experience, gender, high school grade point average, undergraduate grade point average, maternal level of education, and paternal level of education).

 $TL_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1Hope + \beta_2Grit + Covariates\beta_3 + \varepsilon_i$

where TL = transformational leadership score, i = individual respondent, β_0 = constant, Hope = values from The Adult Trait Hope Scale, Grit = values from the Grit Scale, Covariates = a vector of covariates including age, years of administrative experience, gender, high school grade point average, undergraduate grade point average, maternal level of education, and paternal level of education, and ϵ_i = error. The data presented in Model 3 of Table 12 suggest that 40.5 percent of the variance in selfidentified transformational leadership behavior can be attributed to hope, grit, and the various control variables (F(9,109) = 7.879, p < .001). These results provide evidence suggesting that both hope (B = .738, p < .001) and grit (B = .480, p < .001) play a significant role in transformational leadership behavior even when accounting for the control variables.

Table 12

Summary of Hope, Grit, and Control Variables Regression Analyses Predicting Self-identified Transformational Leadership Behavior

Regression Equation 5-7			
Dependent Variable: Self-Ide	ntified Transformational Lead	lership Behavior	
	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Grit	.496 **		.480 * *
	(.123)		(.125)
Норе	.738 **		.738 **
	(.167)		(.169)
Age		.147	.111
		(.106)	(.088)
Gender		4.132*	2.107
		(1.615)	(1.366)
Years Served		.020	.005
		(.114)	(.095)
HS GPA		-3.663	-2.801
		(2.229)	1.856
U GPA		2.949	1.488
		(2.506)	(2.085)
Mother Ed		.628	.351
		(.691)	(.573)
Father Ed		.698	.709
		(.563)	(.474)
Constant	16.339	74.372	15.303
r ²	.338	.115	.405
\overline{R}^2	.327	.057	.354
Observations	116	114	114

Note: *p < .05, ** p < .01. Standard error in parenthesis.

However, when conducting a regression comparison in which the number of variables changes in each regression analysis, it is necessary to examine the adjusted R square results to account for the decrease in the number of variables in each regression analysis. When examining these data, the
adjusted R square of the regression analysis that included only hope and grit was (\bar{R}^2 = .327), while the adjusted R square of the regression analysis that included only the control variables was (\bar{R}^2 = .057). Finally, the adjusted R square of the regression model that included hope, grit, and the control variables was (\bar{R}^2 = .354).

When conducting a multiple regression analysis involving numerous variables, it is also important to explore whether multicollinearity is influencing results. Multicollinearity is a statistical condition that occurs when two or more variables are highly correlated and influence the outcomes of the regression by inflating standard errors or making statistically significant results insignificant (Graham, 2002). In examining the correlations of this study found in Table 5, the highest correlation was between age and years of leadership experience (r = .593), while the next highest correlation involved high school grade point average and undergraduate grade point average (r = .514). Farrar and Glauber (1967) state that multicollinearity can become an issue when correlations between explanatory variables exceed levels of r = .80 to r = .90. Because the highest correlation between variables in this study did not meet this threshold, it was determined that multicollinearity was not posing a substantial threat to the integrity of the results; therefore, it was determined there was no need to further explore the degree to which multicollinearity may have influenced the regression analysis.

In sum, these various multiple regression analyses provide empirical support that hope and grit account for more of the variance in transformational leadership behaviors than the control variables of the study, thus allowing the rejection of the null hypothesis of the third research question.

Summary

The results of the data analyses suggest there exists a statistically significant positive relationship between both hope and grit and self-identified transformational leadership behavior. Although both non-cognitive skills showed a positive correlation with self-reported transformational leadership behavior, hope had a slightly higher correlation to self-reported transformational leadership behavior than grit, suggesting there is a stronger positive relationship between hope and transformational leadership behavior than there is for grit and transformational leadership behavior.

Based on the regression analyses examined in the study, hope and grit accounted for more of the variance in self-identified transformational leadership behavior than the set of control variables. These control variables included age, gender, years served as an administrator, high school grade point average, undergraduate high school grade point average, and maternal and paternal levels of education. Other than gender, these control variables failed to demonstrate a statistically significant relationship to self-identified transformational leadership behavior. When examined independently of hope and grit, the set of control variables accounted for only 5.7 percent of the variance in self-identified transformational leadership behavior. However, when hope and grit were added to the regression equation, the new set of variables accounted for 35.4 percent of the variance of self-identified transformational leadership behavior. In sum, the results suggest that hope and grit serve as positive predictors of self-reported successful leadership behavior in the elementary education principals in Kansas.

CHAPTER 5

Discussion

This study found that the non-cognitive skills of hope and grit were positively related to selfidentified transformational leadership behavior. Further, hope and grit predicted transformational leadership behavior when controlling for age, gender, years of administrative experience, high school grade point average, undergraduate grade point average, maternal level of education, and paternal level of education.

Hope and Transformational Leadership Behavior

The first variable of interest in the study was the non-cognitive skill of hope. When examining hope, it was found that the average hope score of the elementary principals in the study was 57.43. Although there were not any norms for hope scores for professional employees such as school administrators found in the literature, Lopez et al. (2000) noted that the average hope score for college and noncollege student samples was 48, with scores ranging from a low score of eight to a high score of 64. Therefore, the individuals' hope scores in the present study ($x^{-} = 57.43$) were higher than what has been found with other samples. Given that hope has been correlated with successful outcomes such as grades (Ciarrochi, Heaven, & Davies, 2007) and increased likelihood of graduating (Snyder et al., 2005), this finding is not all that surprising. Similarly, it may be plausible that higher levels of hope are helpful in completing a graduate degree in school administration and obtaining licensure to work as a school principal.

The correlational analyses illustrated there is a positive relationship between hope and selfidentified transformational leadership behavior. Specifically, hope and transformational leadership behavior were found to be moderately positively correlated at r = .493. Compared to similar studies examining factors related to leadership, this correlational coefficient is relatively high. For example, when examining the relationship between the facets of the Five-Factor model of personality and leadership, Judge et al. (2002) found the correlations with leadership were neuroticism r = -.24, extraversion r = .31, openness to experience r = .24, agreeableness r = .08, and conscientiousness r = .28. Therefore, the relationship with hope and self-identified transformational leadership behavior was stronger than has been illustrated in past research examining non-cognitive constructs.

Next, a rather interesting finding involved the relationship between each item on The Adult Trait Hope Scale and self-identified transformational leadership behavior. When using correlational analyses, seven out of the eight Hope Scale items were positively correlated with transformational leadership behavior. However, when doing regression analyses, it was found that only two items on The Adult Trait Hope Scale were positive predictors of transformational leadership behavior. These two items from the scale, which were also the items correlating with transformational leadership behavior at the highest level, were "I energetically pursue my goals" and "Even when others get discouraged, I know I can find a way to solve the problem." These two items compose different components (i.e., agency and pathways) of the hope construct.

The item stating "I energetically pursue my goals" is a component of the agency subscale of The Adult Trait Hope Scale. In describing hope, Lopez (2013) states, "agency is shorthand for our perceived ability to share our lives day to day. As 'agents' we know we can make things happen (or stop them from happening), and we take responsibility for moving toward our goals. Over time, we develop our ability to motivate ourselves; we build our capacity for persistence and long-term effort. Agency makes us authors of our lives" (p. 25). As has been described previously, transformational leaders demonstrate inspirational motivation. With this, they communicate to their followers a strong sense of purpose, which then motivates the organization to move forward to succeed in accomplishing its goals. Additionally, the transformational leader articulates and communicates a clear vision and generates optimism and hope to accomplish goals associated with the vision (Bass, 2006; Luthans, et al., 2006). If a school principal does not possess the hopeful mindset to energetically pursue his or her goals, it is

unlikely the principal will be able to motivate school staff members to do so. This is also congruent with the concept of idealized influence, one of the subscales of transformational leadership. Before subordinates will choose to follow a leader in a manner that is beneficial to the organization, they must see the leader act as a role model of proper behavior. By possessing agency and energetically pursuing pre-established goals, it is believed the leader motivates followers to mimic this behavior, creating a goal-oriented organization.

The other item on The Adult Trait Hope Scale serving as a predictor of transformational leadership behavior was "Even when others get discouraged, I know I can find a way to solve the problem." This item of the instrument comprises the pathways subscale. Pathways thinking provides an individual with multiple routes to accomplish the goals he or she has established (Snyder et al., 1991). Despite a leader communicating a clear vision and working with great ambition toward the goals of that vision, it is likely obstacles will arise. It is hypothesized this question addresses a component of resiliency that is needed and necessary for transformational leadership. In order to be resilient in the face of problems and setbacks, leaders need to possess the pathways thinking where they will not give up when confronted with a challenging situation. Rather, the ability to circumnavigate through issues helps maintain a level of hope and optimism within the organization that is necessary for it to thrive.

In sum, the results from this study found that not only is hope significantly positively related to transformational leadership, but aspects of it may also be possible dispositional antecedents of transformational leadership behavior. The results examining this research question support the idea that the non-cognitive skill of hope serves as a positive force in allowing a leader to engage in the continual pursuit of meaningful goals as well as the ability not to give up when confronted with obstacles and challenges. The study also found, though, that only two items on The Adult Trait Hope Scale actually predicted transformational leadership behavior, and therefore more research is needed to further examine the reasoning behind this unexpected finding. It may be possible, for instance, that

there is more to the construct of hope than what is communicated by the total hope score. Regardless, the results of this study support Luthans' et al. (2007) idea that hopeful leaders possess a mindset filled with positive energy and determination, which ultimately trickles down and generates motivation in followers to positively impact the organization.

Grit and Transformational Leadership Behavior

The next variable examined was grit. Similar to hope, grit was significantly positively related to self-identified transformational leadership behavior. On a scale of one to five, with five being the highest grit score possible, the elementary school principals had an average grit score of 3.90. Though slightly less than hope, grit was moderately positively correlated with transformational leadership (r = .453). These results suggest that having the passion and perseverance to accomplish long-term goals is linked to transformational leadership behavior in Kansas elementary school administrators.

When examining items on the Grit Scale that predict transformational leadership, it was found that the items "I have overcome setbacks to conquer an important challenge" and "I am diligent" served as the only statistically significant positive predictors of self-reported transformational leadership behavior. This is in light of the fact that ten of the twelve Grit Scale items positively correlated with transformational leadership behavior. However, these two positive predictors were also the two items that were correlating with transformational leadership at the highest levels (r = .457 and r = .377, respectively).

The first item involving overcoming setbacks is likely addressing some of the values incorporated in the inspirational motivation and idealized influence components of transformational leadership. By being resilient and having the ability to overcome setbacks, a leader is likely to maintain a level of hope for future goals that is necessary in order for the leader's followers to continue exerting efforts to accomplish the organization's goals. Possessing this quality, the leader likely gains the respect of his or her followers and motivates those employees to exhibit similar types of behavior.

The next item that states, "I am diligent" may be addressing a component of conscientiousness. In research examining grit, Duckworth and Quinn (2009) found a very strong correlation (r = .77) between grit and conscientiousness. Judge et al. (2002) examined the relationship between the Big Five personality traits (i.e., openness, conscientiousness, extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism) and found that conscientiousness had the second highest correlation (r = .28) to successful leadership than the other four facets of Big Five model of personality. Extraversion had the highest correlation at r = .31. Thus, it may be possible that the Grit Scale is measuring a facet that is similar to conscientiousness, which in turn, is generating the positive relationship with transformational leadership in this study. When followers see their leader being diligent, the followers likely are inspired and motivated to follow the model behavior of the leader and engage in similar behavior.

The finding that hope had a higher correlation (r = .493) than grit did to transformational leadership (r= .453) was intriguing. In attempting to explain why the non-cognitive skill of hope would have a stronger relationship than grit, it is hypothesized that the construct of hope incorporates more components of the 5 l's⁹, the subscales making up the transformational leadership model. While future research will need to examine whether this is true, it is believed that hope is related most closely with the inspirational motivation subscale of the transformational leadership model. Being a strong leader entails motivating others to achieve goals. This, in turn, requires continual emphasis on the leader's part to envision the future. As noted by Beach (2006), a vision instills a sense of what the organization will become, defines the ideal future, inspires, motivates, and unifies the organization's members. Hope likely provides these leaders with the foresight to think about this future in an optimistic fashion, which

⁹ The five I's of transformational leadership include the following: Inspirational Motivation, Intellectual Stimulation, Individualized Consideration, Idealized Influence – Attributes, Idealized Influence – Behaviors.

helps them communicate the organization's goals to the subordinates in a positive manner. Next, the pathways subscale of hope then helps the leader possess the wherewithal and ability to overcome the obstacles and challenges that impede progress of accomplishing the goal.

Additionally, the results from this study suggest a link between a school leader's grit and selfreported transformational leadership behavior. In order to continually work toward the vision of the organization and complete goals on a long-term basis, grit may likely serve as a necessary antecedent of transformational leadership. Gritty leaders are more likely to persist through the challenges and setbacks than their counterparts with lower levels of grit. By having the passion and perseverance for long-term goals, school administrators are likely to be more successful in sticking with their goals. In turn, it is believed that possessing this non-cognitive skill allows leaders to engage in transformational leadership behavior, gain the respect and admiration of their followers, and persevere in leading their schools to successful educational outcomes.

Not only did the study illustrate that hope and grit are related to transformational leadership behavior, but it also showed that aspects of hope and grit can be used to predict transformational leadership behavior in Kansas elementary education principals. Results from the regression analyses demonstrated that both hope and grit are positive predictors of self-identified transformational leadership, even when controlling for age, gender, years of experience, high school GPA, undergraduate GPA, and parental levels of education. This result provides evidence that non-cognitive skills may play a role in predicting transformational leadership behavior.

Other Findings

Though the positive relationship between hope and grit and transformational leadership behavior was expected, it was extremely surprising to see the lack of predictive validity of the control variables utilized in the study. The findings showed that age, years of experience as an administrator, high school GPA, undergraduate GPA, as well as the subjects' mother's and father's levels of education were not related to transformational leadership behavior. Most surprising was the lack of a statistically significant positive relationship between an elementary school administrator's high school and undergraduate grade point average and self-identified transformational leadership behavior. This finding is especially unexpected since earlier literature has found a positive connection with IQ and leader performance (Bass, 2009). For example, Judge et al. (2004) concluded after examining a metaanalysis of 151 studies that IQ and leadership were correlated at .27, and Antonakis (2011) noted that general intelligence has stood the test of time and has consistently shown to be strongly related to leadership.

In attempts to explain these unexpected results of this study, it is hypothesized that transformational leaders do not necessarily have to be smart leaders, as defined by cognitive ability. While it may be possible that this study's method of assessing cognitive ability (i.e., high school and undergraduate grade point average) is a poor measure of cognitive ability, it is believed that extremely high levels of cognitive ability are not necessary in order to demonstrate transformational leadership behavior. Instead, to be a transformational leader, one needs to demonstrate behaviors characterized in the 5 I's (i.e., intellectual stimulation, idealized influence (behavior), idealized influence (attributes), inspirational motivation, and individualized consideration). These behaviors include the ability to build positive and trusting relationships with others, communicate a compelling vision to motivate individuals to take action for a cause greater than themselves, and act with integrity. These skills may not require high levels of general intelligence (e.g., analytical ability, problem-solving, etc.) but instead require a set of competencies that incorporates emotional intelligence (see Boyatzis, 2009; Goleman, 1998; Saxe 2011) and other non-cognitive factors like hope and grit.

Also surprising was the lack of a relationship between transformational leadership behavior and the other control variables. Although there was a small correlation (r = .145) between transformational

leadership behavior and age, this correlation was not statistically significant. A similar result occurred with maternal level of education (r = .117) and paternal level of education (r = .143). Finally, leadership experience (i.e., years served as an administrator) did not have a strong relationship with self-identified transformational leadership behavior (r = .09).

Although it would seem intuitive that leaders with more experience would exhibit higher levels of transformational leadership behavior, the literature examining the relationship between a leader's experience and a leader's performance has mixed findings. McEnrue (1988) found a strong relationship between job experience, as measured by length of tenure as a restaurant manager, and restaurant sales and profits. In discussing the positive relationship found between NBA coaches' previous coaching experiences and the percentage of NBA games won during a season, Avery (2003) stated that leadership experience is useful in predicting performance only when the previous leadership experience closely matches the individual's current leadership role. On the flip side, in his article titled "Leadership Experience and Leader Performance – Another Hypothesis Shot to Hell," Fiedler (1970) found a negative relationship (r = -.12) between years of supervisory experience and leadership performance, as measured by group productivity, leading the author to state, "leadership experience appears to have no salutary effect on group and organizational performances" (p. 12). In sum, these mixed findings in the literature regarding leadership experience and performance may help explain the unexpected finding that principal experience was not highly related to self-identified transformational leadership behavior.

The finding that females demonstrated higher levels of transformational leadership behavior also came as a surprise; however, Bass and Avolio (2004) found a similar trend when analyzing transformational leadership and gender. Interestingly, the females in this study also reported having higher high school grade point averages than the males, as female gender and high school grade point average was correlated at r_{pb} = .593. In attempting to explain why females reported higher levels of transformational leadership behavior, it is believed that sociological and psychological forces could be at work. Historically, school administrative positions have been dominated by men. Throughout history, women have had to overcome the challenges of the glass-ceiling effect in getting into leadership positions, especially positions at the top of an organization's hierarchy (Cotter, Hermsen, Ovadia, & Vanneman, 2001). In Kansas, for instance, males compose 70 percent of elementary principal positions, whereas females compose only 30 percent of elementary principal positions (U.S. Department of Education, 2012). Therefore, it is possible that those women who overcome these barriers and ultimately ascend to these leadership positions may possess a non-cognitive skill-set that assists them in becoming transformational leaders within their organizations. Future research should continue to examine whether there is a relationship between non-cognitive skills and women's ability to overcome the glass-ceiling effect.

Outside of gender, though, only hope and grit served as positive predictors of self-identified transformational leadership behavior. Serving as a school administrator is a stressful position. Hope may play a protective role in helping to minimize this level of stress school leaders face on a daily basis. For instance, Ong et al. (2006) found that individuals with higher levels of hope showed less reactivity to stressful events and more effective emotional recovery to these stressful events. By possessing higher levels of hope, it may be plausible that this non-cognitive skill allows a leader to engage in transformational leadership behavior rather that succumb to the stress and pressures of the job. Luthans, Youssef, and Avolio (2007) stated, "hopeful organizational leaders and managers become crucial to the growth, if not the very survival, of any organization" (p.72). By possessing hope, leaders are able to stimulate positive attitudes about the organization's future.

Next, this study supports the finding that leaders who possess grit, the passion and perseverance to continually work toward long-terms goals, are more likely to exude behaviors that characterize transformational leadership. These gritty leaders likely persist working through the challenges they face in school day after day, week after week, and year after year. Having this high level of perseverance over the long-term allows them to remain optimistic about achieving the organization's goals when faced with hardship.

In sum, the purpose of this study was to explore the relationship between hope and grit and transformational leadership behavior. In completing this study, there were several significant conclusions:

- Hope and grit predicted transformational leadership behavior in Kansas elementary principals even when accounting for a set of control variables that included age, gender, years of administrative experience, high school grade point average, undergraduate grade point average, and parental levels of education.
- Kansas female elementary principals were more likely to have higher levels of selfreported transformational leadership behavior than their male counterparts.
- High school grade point average and undergraduate grade point average did not predict nor were they related to self-identified transformational leadership behavior.
- Leadership experience, as measured by years served as an administrator, was not a positive predictor of self-identified transformational leadership behavior.
- Although most of the items measuring hope and grit were positively related to transformational leadership, only two items on each instrument actually predicted transformational leadership behavior, suggesting there is a more nuanced notion occurring with the hope and grit subscales relative to the transformational leadership subscales.

Implications

Whether an elementary school or a large Fortune 500 corporation, transformational leadership has been shown to make a difference in organizational performance. Prior research found that

transformational leaders motivate their followers, create a strong sense of trust within their organizations, and ultimately help their followers maximize their potential in order to create positive outcomes for the organization (Avolio & Bass, 2005; Bono & Judge, 2004; Fitzgerald & Schutte, 2010). At this time, however, there is not a clear understanding of the non-cognitive skills that highly effective leaders harness and utilize to effectively lead their organizations.

There is a growing movement to further understand non-cognitive skills and the role they play in determining successful outcomes. Research in behavioral economics (e.g., Heckman et al., 2014; Heckman & Kautz, 2012), education (e.g., Dweck, 2006; Tough, 2012), and psychology (e.g., Duckworth et al., 2007) has demonstrated non-cognitive skills to be predictive of numerous successful life outcomes. This current study has now added to this research base and helped illustrate the important relationship between non-cognitive skills and transformational leadership behavior.

With this in mind, greater emphasis needs to be placed on measuring and evaluating potential school leaders' non-cognitive skills in order to help account for the behavioral antecedents that influence transformational leadership behavior. Based on the results of this study which found that both hope and grit predicted transformational leadership behavior in Kansas elementary principals, future research should continue to explore whether schools may benefit by evaluating hope and grit in individuals applying for school leadership positions and hiring school leaders possessing high levels of these non-cognitive skills. However, in order to do this, there needs to be an improved understanding of how to validly measure and assess non-cognitive skills. Currently, most measures of non-cognitive skills, such as the two instruments used in this study, utilize Likert-based self-report methods. When attempting to measure and assess non-cognitive skills for high stake purposes such as hiring, these simple instruments would not suffice since individuals taking the self-report instruments could easily fake certain responses to appear more desirable in the eyes of the potential employer. Therefore, other techniques such as forced-choice assessments, situational judgment tests, 360 degree instruments,

written qualitative analysis (e.g., Robertson-Kraft & Duckworth, 2013), and anchoring vignettes (e.g., King & Wand, 2007) may prove to be more reliable and valid methods of assessing non-cognitive skills (Burrus et al., 2013).

This study also brings to light the need to understand how to foster optimal levels of noncognitive skills. There is a growing research base showing that non-cognitive skills can be developed in children (e.g., Dweck et al., 2011) and adults (e.g., Luthans et al., 2007; Peterson et al., 2011). To improve school performance outcomes, it is recommended that scholars continue to research the impact of non-cognitive skills on positive organizational outcomes. If the results of this study are replicated, schools may choose to devote more attention and resources to develop non-cognitive skills in their school leaders by providing professional development opportunities that focus on building and developing non-cognitive skills such as hope and grit.

In conclusion, the study found that grit and hope were positive predictors of transformational leadership behavior in elementary education principals. With this in mind, schools should consider assessing non-cognitive skills such as hope and grit when hiring their school leaders in order to account for the dispositional antecedents related to transformational leadership behavior. Research suggests that non-cognitive factors are malleable and capable of being developed. Therefore, to help foster and enhance positive organizational outcomes, school districts may consider engaging in professional development and training opportunities to build non-cognitive skills like hope and grit in their school leaders if this study's findings can be replicated in future research.

Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research

When assessing the results of this study, it is important to take into consideration the limitations of this research. The assessment of non-cognitive skills is in its infancy. As like most instruments of non-cognitive skills, the two instruments used to measure hope and grit in this study were both Likert-based

self-report instruments. As a result, the elementary school principals responding to the surveys may have been influenced by social desirability bias when reporting how hopeful and gritty they were. In a similar manner, the instrument used to measure transformational leadership behavior was the self-rater version of the MLQ (5X-Short). In attempts to limit the number of items on the questionnaire, this study only assessed for transformational leadership behavior, using the 20 items on the MLQ (5X-Short) measuring transformational leadership. Likewise, the study did not include the four distractor items on The Adult Trait Hope Scale. By removing these distractor items, it may have reduced the validity of the full instrument. Therefore, to better understand the leadership effectiveness and levels of hope of each elementary principal, future research should use all 45 items of the MLQ (5X-Short), which also measures transactional leadership behavior and laissez-faire leadership behavior, as well as all the items on The Adult Trait Hope Scale.

Next, due to using the self-report version of the MLQ (5X-Short), it may have been possible that the school leaders in the study engaged in social desirability bias when reporting their levels of transformational leadership behavior, thus creating inflated scores. For example, principals could have reported that they frequently engage in behaviors associated with transformational leaders, when in reality they rarely do so. To avoid this problem and help improve the validity when measuring transformational leadership, future research should attempt to use the 360-degree version of the MLQ (5X-Short), where both self and other ratings are collected from the employees within the school.

Further, this study made no attempt to utilize external variables to measure leader effectiveness. In evaluating the leadership success of school principals, metrics such as standardized tests scores (e.g., Hallinger, Bickman, & Davis, 1996), student retention and completion (e.g., Baker, Derrer, Davis, Dinklage-Travis, Linder, & Nicholson, 2001), and student engagement (e.g., Leithwood & Jantzi, 2000) frequently are used to judge the effectiveness of a school's leader. This particular study worked to maintain the subjects' confidentiality to help limit potential social desirability bias; therefore, data were not collected on any identifying components such as the school and district where the principal worked, which prevented the utilization of variables such as school performance (e.g., standardized test scores) as another method of measuring leadership effectiveness. Instead, this study utilized the self-reported scores of transformational leadership behavior as a measure of leadership effectiveness. Although the model of transformational leadership has been widely used in multiple domains of research, this model has not been fully accepted as the only model to define effective leadership. Therefore, future research should continue working toward creating a common understanding, definition, and measurement of successful leadership. Additionally, forthcoming studies expanding on the current study should attempt to use external metrics such as school performance, in addition to transformational leadership behavior, to evaluate effective leadership in school leaders.

Another limitation in the study involves its generalizability. Although 116 elementary education principals elected to fully participate in the study, there were 554 elementary principals that were invited to participate who chose not to complete the questionnaires, resulting in a response rate of only seventeen percent. Therefore, it may have been possible for non-response bias to influence the results. For example, it could have been the case that those who elected to participate in the study were more highly motivated professionals possessing higher levels of hope, grit, and transformational leadership behavior than those that did not participate. However, as noted in Slavin (2007), missing data are less of a concern when studying a relationship between variables than when the purpose of the study is to know about the level of a certain variable.

A second limitation involving the external validity of the study must be noted. The average age of the subjects in this study was similar to the average age of Kansas elementary administrators (49.47 years and 47.00 years, respectively); however, this study had a higher percentage of females than the state average. The percent of female administrators in this study was 44 percent, whereas only 30 percent of elementary principals in Kansas are female. Because of the limitations involving generalizability, additional research should attempt to replicate the findings of this study with another sample in order to reinforce the relationship between hope, grit, and transformational leadership, as well as to better understand some of the counterintuitive findings of this study (e.g., the lack of relationship between years of leadership experience and transformational leadership behavior). To help explore whether the situation and environment influence whether grit and hope predict transformational leadership behavior, research could examine if the results of this study are replicated in different school settings (i.e., urban, rural, and suburban schools), at schools with various socioeconomic levels (i.e., low-income versus affluent), as well as within different levels of education (i.e., elementary, middle, high school, and postsecondary levels).

Next, although this study did find that hope and grit predicted transformational leadership behavior, it is believed the results are more nuanced than the data suggest. In other words, hope and grit may not be as simple as the scores imply. For instance, this study found that only certain items on The Adult Trait Hope Scale and Grit Scale positively predicted transformational leadership behavior. This finding was quite surprising and calls for additional research to provide an explanation for why only certain items on the instruments measuring hope and grit are predictive of transformational leadership behavior. Additionally, this study did not attempt to explore the relationship between hope and grit and the subscales of transformational leadership. Therefore, to examine whether there is a relationship between hope and grit and only certain components of transformational leadership, future studies should explore how both hope and grit are related to the specific subscales of the transformational leadership model (i.e., individualized consideration, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, idealized influence attributes, and idealized influence behaviors).

Finally, the current study examined only two non-cognitive skills: hope and grit. While this study did find that hope and grit were predictive of self-identified transformational leadership behavior, it is unlikely that these are the only non-cognitive skills driving successful leadership outcomes. Ideally, the

study would have surveyed the numerous non-cognitive skills in existence; however, this is not feasible for a single study to do. Therefore, future research should continue to examine the role of other noncognitive skills' in predicting effective leadership behavior. It is hypothesized that other non-cognitive skills such as self-efficacy, self-discipline, resiliency, adaptability, and optimism are interrelated and interdependent much like strands of a rope. Future research should continue to examine the interrelated nature of these non-cognitive constructs as well as investigate how they influence leadership. As such, it may be possible to design a synthesized model of non-cognitive skills that unites psychometrically-related non-cognitive skills into a single, coherent model used to study effective leadership in an efficient manner. Currently, there are a few models that have attempted to do this. For instance, the construct of psychological capital (see Luthans et al., 2007; Luthans, Youssef, & Avolio, 2006) unites the non-cognitive skills of hope, resilience, optimism, and self-efficacy. Another model known as core self-evaluations (see Judge et al., 2003; Judge, Locke, & Durham, 1997) integrates selfesteem, generalized self-efficacy, locus of control, and emotional stability. Future research should build upon these models to further study the relationship between non-cognitive skills and successful leadership.

Summary

The findings of this study concur with prior research illustrating the positive relationship of noncognitive skills and beneficial life outcomes. Previous research has shown that non-cognitive skills are positively related to labor market outcomes (Heckman et al., 2006; Heckman & Kautz, 2012; Heckman & Rubenstein, 2001), academic achievement (Duckworth & Seligman, 2005; Dweck, 2006; Tracey & Sedlacek, 1982), physical and psychological well-being (Baumeister & Tierney, 2011; Lopez, 2013; Seligman, 2006; Snyder & Lopez, 2005), and workplace performance (Bernardi, 2011; Judge et al., 2002; Judge & Bono, 2001; Luthans et al., 2007; Robertson-Kraft & Duckworth, 2013). In this study, it was found that hope and grit are positive predictors of self-identified transformational leadership behavior in Kansas elementary school principals. In sum, this study as well as previous research provides evidence that non-cognitive skills appear to make a difference.

In conclusion, when studying the common thread between history's greatest geniuses, Cox (1926) stated that, "high but not the highest intelligence, combined with the greatest degree of persistence, will achieve greater eminence than the highest degree of intelligence with somewhat less persistence" (p.187). In looking back on some of history's grand achievements accomplished by the world's most eminent leaders, it is highly plausible that non-cognitive skills like hope and grit have played a role in creating greatness. For example, after experiencing failure after failure until ultimately producing the first fully functioning electric light bulb, inventor, Thomas Edison once stated, "Genius is one percent inspiration and ninety-nine percent perspiration." (Sweetman, Luthans, Avey, & Luthans, 2011, p. 4). In this famous line, the "perspiration" required to finally create this history-changing invention likely involved both hope and grit. When Thomas Edison experienced an obstacle to getting the light bulb to shine, he likely remained hopeful, possessing both the agency and pathways to overcome the hardships that manifested after each failed attempt. Further, in never giving up after the hundreds and hundreds of futile trials, Edison likely displayed tremendous levels of grit. He stayed passionate about his goal and persevered throughout all its challenges in order to bring light to the world. Like Edison, leaders in schools across the country face their own challenges and obstacles. Faced with the task of leading their schools and obtaining outstanding results, school leaders need hope and grit. Possessing a non-cognitive skillset that includes hope and grit, these leaders will be poised to tackle the challenges that await and ultimately help their schools and their students achieve their full potential.

81

APPENDIX A

THE ADULT TRAIT HOPE SCALE

Directions: Read each item carefully. Using the scale shown below, please select the number that best describes you and put that number in the blank provided.

- 1 = Definitely False
- 2 = Mostly False
- 3 = Somewhat False
- 4 = Slightly False
- 5 = Slightly True
- 6 = Somewhat True
- 7 = Mostly True
- 8 = Definitely True
- _____1. I can think of many ways to get out of a jam.
- _____ 2. I energetically pursue my goals.
- _____ 3. There are lots of ways around any problem.
- _____4. I can think of many ways to get the things in life that are most important to me.
- _____ 5. Even when others get discouraged, I know I can find a way to solve the problem.
- _____ 6. My past experiences have prepared me well for my future.
- _____ 7. I've been pretty successful in life.
- _____ 8. I meet the goals that I set for myself.

From Snyder, C.R., Harris, C., Anderson, J.R., Holleran, S.A., Irving, L.M., Sigmon, S.T., & Harney, P. (1991). The will and the ways: Development and validation of an individual differences measure of hope. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 60, 585.

APPENDIX B

GRIT SCALE

Directions for taking the Grit Scale: Here are a number of statements that may or may not apply to you. For the most accurate score, when responding, think how you compare to most people – not just the people you know well, but most people in the world. There are no right or wrong answers, so just answer honestly.

- 1. I have overcome setbacks to conquer an important challenge.
 - ___Very much like me
 - ___Mostly like me
 - __Somewhat like me
 - __Not much like me
 - ___Not like me at all
- 2. New ideas and projects sometimes distract me from previous ones.
 - ___Very much like me
 - ___Mostly like me
 - ___Somewhat like me
 - ___Not much like me
 - ___Not like me at all
- 3. My interests change from year to year.
 - ___Very much like me
 - ___Mostly like me
 - ___Somewhat like me
 - ___Not much like me
 - __Not like me at all
- 4. Setbacks don't discourage me.
 - ___Very much like me
 - ___Mostly like me
 - __Somewhat like me
 - ___Not much like me
 - __Not like me at all

5. I have been obsessed with a certain idea or project for a short time but later lost interest.

- ___Very much like me
- ___Mostly like me
- __Somewhat like me
- ___Not much like me
- __Not like me at all

6. I am a hard worker.

- ___Very much like me
- ___Mostly like me
- ___Somewhat like me
- __Not much like me
- ___Not like me at all

7. I often set a goal but later choose to pursue a different one.

- ___Very much like me
- ___Mostly like me
- __Somewhat like me
- ___Not much like me
- ___Not like me at all

8. I have difficulty maintaining my focus on projects that take more than a few months to complete.

- ___Very much like me
- __Mostly like me
- ___Somewhat like me
- __Not much like me
- ___Not like me at all

9. I finish whatever I begin.

- ___Very much like me
- ___Mostly like me
- __Somewhat like me
- __Not much like me
- __Not like me at all

10. I have achieved a goal that took years of work.

- ___Very much like me
- ___Mostly like me
- ___Somewhat like me
- ___Not much like me
- ___Not like me at all
- 11. I become interested in new pursuits every few months.
 - ___Very much like me
 - __Mostly like me
 - ___Somewhat like me
 - ___Not much like me
 - __Not like me at all

12. I am diligent.

- ___Very much like me
- ___Mostly like me
- ___Somewhat like me
- ___Not much like me
- ___Not like me at all

From Duckworth, A.L., Peterson, C., Matthews, M.D., & Kelly, D.R. (2007). Grit: Perseverance and passion for long-term goals. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *9*, 1087-1101.

APPENDIX C

MULTIFACTOR LEADERSHIP QUESTIONNAIRE LEADER FORM (5X-SHORT)

Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire Leader Form (5X Short)

My Name:	Date:

Organization ID #: _____ Leader ID #: _____

This questionnaire is to describe your leadership style as you perceive it. Please answer all items on this answer sheet. If an item is irrelevant, or if you are unsure or do not know the answer, leave the answer blank.

Forty-five descriptive statements are listed on the following pages. Judge how frequently each statement fits you. The word "others" may mean your peers, clients, direct reports, supervisors, and/or all of these individuals.

Use the following rating scale:

	Not at all	Once in a while			Sometimes	Fairly Often	Frequently if not always			
	0	0 1			2	3	4			
1.	l provide othe 0	rs with a 1	ssistance 2	e in exch 3	ange for their ef 4	forts.				
2.	I re-examine critical assumptions to question whether they are appropriate.									
	0	1	2	3	4					
3.	I fail to interfere until problems become serious.									
	0	1	2	3	4					
4.	I focus attention on irregularities, mistakes, exceptions and deviations from standards.									
	0	1	2	3	4					
5.	I avoid getting involved when important issues arise.									

0 1 2 3 4

Note: Mind Garden, Inc. does not allow the entire Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (5X-Short) to be included in dissertations and proposals. Instead, they only permit researchers to include five sample questions from the instrument in any documents.

APPENDIX D

DEMOGRAPHIC SURVEY

Directions: Please respond to the following questions as best as you can.

- 1. What is your current age: _____ years
- 2. Gender: (check one) _____Male _____Female
- 3. How many years have you served as an elementary school administrator? ______
- 4. On a 4.0 scale, what best describes your cumulative high school grade point average?
- 5. On a 4.0 scale, what best describes your cumulative <u>undergraduate</u> grade point average?
- What best describes the score you received on the ACT? If you did not take the ACT or do not remember your score, please leave the item blank.
 Score: _____
- What best describes the score you received on the SAT? If you did not take the SAT or do not remember your score, please leave the item blank.
 - Score: _____
- 8. What was the highest degree earned by your mother?
 - _____ less than high school
 - _____ high school/GED
 - _____ some college/associate's degree
 - _____ bachelor's degree
 - _____ master's degree
 - _____ doctorate/professional degree
 - _____ do not know/does not apply
- 9. What was the highest degree earned by your father?
 - _____ less than high school
 - _____ high school/GED
 - _____ some college
 - _____ bachelor's degree
 - _____ master's degree
 - _____ doctorate/professional degree
 - _____ do not know/does not apply
- 10. From what college/university did you obtain your undergraduate degree/s?

In what year did you graduate? _____

In what year did you graduate? _____

11. From what college/university did you obtain your graduate degree/s?

In what year did you graduate? _____

In what year did you graduate? _____

APPENDIX E

MIND GARDEN LETTER GRANTING PERMISSION TO USE COPYRIGHT MATERIAL

For use by Brian Davidson only. Received from Mind Garden, Inc. on January 26, 2014



www.mindgarden.com

To whom it may concern,

This letter is to grant permission for the above named person to use the following copyright material;

Instrument: Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire

Authors: Bruce Avolio and Bernard Bass

Copyright: 1995 by Bruce Avolio and Bernard Bass

for his/her thesis research.

Five sample items from this instrument may be reproduced for inclusion in a proposal, thesis, or dissertation.

The entire instrument may not be included or reproduced at any time in any other published material.

Sincerely,

Robert Most Mind Garden, Inc. www.mindgarden.com

APPENDIX F

CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH

95

Adult Informed Consent Statement

Name of Study: Non-cognitive Skills and Leadership: An Examination of the Relationship Between Hope and Grit on Transformational Leadership

INTRODUCTION

The Department of Educational Leadership and Policy Studies at the University of Kansas supports the practice of protection for human subjects participating in research. The following information is provided for you to decide whether you wish to participate in the present study. You should be aware that even if you agree to participate, you are free to withdraw at any time without penalty.

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

The purpose of this study is to explore the relationship between non-cognitive skills and successful leadership behaviors by examining how the specific non-cognitive factors of grit and hope are related to transformational leadership in elementary educational administrators.

PROCEDURES

In this study, you will be asked to take a survey that involves two short instruments used to measure hope and grit, one short instrument to measure leadership behavior, as well as a short demographic questionnaire. It is expected the total time to take all four instruments in the survey should take no longer than ten minutes to complete.

RISKS

There are no risks associated with this study. The content of the surveys should cause no more discomfort than you would experience in your everyday life.

BENEFITS

There may be no personal benefits from taking part in this study. However, the information obtained from this study will be helpful in understanding the relationship between non-cognitive skills and successful leadership behavior. This information may be helpful in hiring and retaining individuals that possess certain qualities and traits to help educational institutions become more effective.

PAYMENT TO PARTICIPANTS

Participants of this study will not be paid.

PARTICIPANT CONFIDENTIALITY

Your name will not be associated in any publication or presentation with the information collected about you or with the research findings from this study. Your participation is solicited, although strictly voluntary. Your identifiable information will not be shared unless (a) it is required by law or university policy, or (b) you give written permission. It is possible, however, with internet communications, that through intent or accident someone other than the intended recipient may see your response.

The researcher of this study will use the information for the purposes of completing a dissertation at The University of Kansas. All data collected as part of the study will be kept confidential. The data will be kept in a locked and secure location. Following the completion of the dissertation by December 2014, all data collected for the purposes of this study will be destroyed.

REFUSAL TO PARTICIPATE

You are not required to participate in this study, and you may refuse to do so without affecting your right to any services you are receiving or may receive from the University of Kansas or to participate in any programs or events of The University of Kansas. However, if you refuse to proceed in completing the surveys, you cannot participate in this study.

CANCELLING THIS CONSENT AND AUTHORIZATION

You may withdraw your consent to participate in this study at any time. You also have the right to cancel your permission to use and disclose further information collected about you, in writing, at any time, by sending your written request to:

Brian Davidson 14880 S Summit St. Olathe, KS 66062 or bdavidson@ku.edu

If you cancel permission to use your information, the researcher will stop collecting additional information about you. However, the research team may use and disclose information that was gathered before they received your cancellation, as described above.

QUESTIONS ABOUT PARTICIPATION

Questions about procedures should be directed to the researcher listed at the end of this consent form.

PARTICIPANT CERTIFICATION:

Completion of the surveys indicates your willingness to take part in this study and that you are at least 18 years old. If you have any additional questions about your rights as a research participant, you may call (785) 864-7429 or write the Human Subjects Committee Lawrence Campus (HSCL), University of Kansas, 2385 Irving Hill Road, Lawrence, Kansas 66045-7563, email irb@ku.edu.

Researcher Contact Information

Brian Davidson Principal Investigator 14880 S Summit St. Olathe, KS 66062 319.321.4108 bdavidson@ku.edu Thomas DeLuca, Ph.D. Dissertation Co-chair and Faculty Supervisor Department of Educational Leadership and Policy Studies Joseph R. Pearson Hall Room 409 1122 West Campus Road Lawrence, KS 66045 785.864.9844 tadeluca@ku.edu


APPROVAL OF PROTOCOL

January 30, 2014

Brian Davidson bdavidson@ku.edu

Dea Brian Davidson:

On 1/30/2014, the IRB reviewed the following submission:

Type of Review:	Initial Study
Title of Study:	Non-cognitive Skills and Leadership: An Examination
	of the Relationship Between Hope and Grit on
	Transformational Leadership
Investigator:	Brian Davidson
IRB ID:	STUDY00000765

The IRB approved the study on 1/30/2014.

- Any significant change to the protocol requires a modification approval prior to altering the project.
- Notify HSCL about any new investigators not named in original application. Note that new investigators must take the online tutorial at <u>https://rgs.drupal.ku.edu/human_subjects_compliance_training.</u>
- 3. Any injury to a subject because of the research procedure must be reported immediately.
- When signed consent documents are required, the primary investigator must retain the signed consent documents for at least three years past completion of the research activity.

Please note university data security and handling requirements for your project: https://documents.ku.edu/policies/IT/DataClassificationandHandlingProceduresGuide.htm

You must use the final, watermarked version of the consent form, available under the "Documents" tab in eCompliance.

Sincerely,

Stephanie Dyson Elms, MPA IRB Administrator, KU Lawrence Campus

References

- Allio, R.J. (2005). Leadership development: Teaching versus learning. *Management Decision*, 43(7/8), 1071-1077.
- Almlund, M., Duckworth, A. L., Heckman, J., & Kautz, T. (2011). Personality psychology and economics. In
 - E.A. Hanushek, S. Machin & L. Woessmann (Eds.), *Handbook of the Economics of Education* (pp. 1-181). Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Anderson, Carl R. (1977). Locus of control, coping behaviors, and performance in a stress setting: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *62*(4), 446.
- Antonakis, J. (2011). Predictors of leadership: The usual suspects and the suspect traits. *Sage handbook of leadership*, 269-285.
- Antonakis, J., Avolio, B.J., & Sivasubramaniam, N. (2003). Context and leadership: An
 - examination of the nine-factor full-range leadership theory using the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire. *The Leadership Quarterly, 14*(3), 261-295.
- Armsden, G. C., & Greenberg, M. T. (1987). The inventory of parent and peer attachment: Relationships to well-being in adolescence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 16, 427-
 - 454.
- Armsden, G. C., McCauley, E., Greenberg, M. T., Burke, P., & Mitchell, J. (1990) Parent and peer attachment in early adolescent depression. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 12, 373-386.

- Arnau, R. C., Rosen, D. H., Finch, J. F., Rhudy, J. L., and Fortunato, V. J. (2007). Longitudinal effects of hope on depression and anxiety: A latent variable analysis. *Journal of Personality*, *75*(1), 43-63.
- Arvey, R.D., Rotundo, M., Johnson, W., Zhang, Z., McGue, M. (2006). The determinants of
 leadership occupancy: Genetic and personality factors. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 17, 120.
- Avey, J.B., Patera, J.L. and West, B.J. (2006). The implications of positive psychological capital on employee absenteeism. *Journal of Leadership and Organizational Studies*, 13, 42-60. In S.J.
 Lopez (2006). Making hope happen: Create the future you want in yourself and others. New York: Avia Books.
- Avolio, B.J. (2007). Promoting more integrative strategies for leadership theory-building. *American Psychologist*, 62(1), 25-33.
- Avolio, B.J. & Bass, B.M. (1991). *Full range of leadership development*. Binghamton, NY: Bass, Avolio, and Associates.
- Avolio, B. J. & Bass, B.M. (2004). Multifactor leadership questionnaire: Manual and sample set (3rd ed.). Mind Garden, Palo Alto, CA.
- Avolio, B.J., Bass, B.M., & Jung, D.I. (1995). MLQ multifactor leadership questionnaire: Technical report. *Mind Garden, Palo Alto, CA*.
- Avolio, B. J., & Hannah, S. T. (2008). Developmental readiness: Accelerating leader development. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 60, 331-347.

Avolio, B.J., Rotundo, M., Walumbwa, F.O. (2009). Early life experiences as determinants of leadership role occupancy: The importance of parental influence and rule breaking behavior. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 20(3), 329-242.

Avolio, B. J., & Gibbons, T. C. (1988). Developing transformational leaders: A life span approach.

In J. A. Conger & R. N. Kanungo (Eds.), *Charismatic leadership: The elusive factor in organizational effectiveness* (pp. 276-308). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

- Avolio, B.J, Waldman, David A., & Yammarino, F.J. (1991). Leading in the 1990s: The four I's of transformational leadership. *Journal of European industrial training, 15*(4).
- Baker, J. A., Derrer, R. D., Davis, S. M., Dinklage-Travis, H. E., Linder, D. S., & Nicholson, M. D. (2001). The flip side of the coin: Understanding the school's contribution to dropout and completion. *School Psychology Quarterly*, *16*(4), 406.
- Bandura, A. (1994). Self-efficacy. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Bartholowmew, K. & Horowitz, L. (1991) Attachment styles among young adults: A test of a four category model. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 61, 226-244.

Bass, B.M. (1991). From transactional to transformational leadership: Learning to share the vision. Organizational dynamics, 18(3), 19-31.

- Bass, B.M. & Avolio, B.J. (2004). *Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire Manual and Sample Set* (3rd Ed.). Mind Garden, Inc.
- Bass, B.M., & Bass, R. (2009). *The Bass handbook of leadership: Theory, research, and managerial applications*: New York: Simon and Schuster.

Bass, B.M., & Riggio, R.E. (2005). *Transformational leadership*: Mahwah, NJ: Psychology Press.

- Bastian, K.C. (2013). Do teachers' non-cognitive skills and traits predict effectiveness and evaluation ratings? *Unpublished manuscript*. Chapel Hill, NC: University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill.
- Baumeister, R., & Tierney, J. (2011) *Willpower: Rediscovering the greatest human strength*. New York: Penguin Press.

Baumrind, D. (1967). Child care practices anteceding three patterns of preschool behavior.

Genetic Psychology Monographs, 75(1), 43-88.

Balkundi, P., Kildruff, M., & Harrison, D.A. (2011). Centrality and charisma: comparing how leader

networks and attributions affect team performance. Journal of Applied Psychology,

96(6), 1209-1222.

Beach, L.R. (2006). Leadership and the art of change: A practical guide to organizational

transformation. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Bennis, W.G. (1984). The four competencies of leadership. *Training and Development Journal*, 38(8), 14-19. In T.J. Kowalski (2006). *The school superintendent: Theory, practice and cases*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Bennis, W.G. (2009). On becoming a leader. New York: Basic Books.

- Bernardi, R.A. (2011). The relationships among locus of control, perceptions of stress and performance. *Journal of Applied Business Research (JABR), 13*(4), 1-8.
- Boone, C., Brabander, B., & Witteloostuijn, A. (1996). CEO locus of control and small firm performance: An integrative framework and empirical test. *Journal of Management Studies, 33*(5), 667-700.

Borghans, L., Duckworth, A. L., Heckman, J. J., &: ter Weel, B. (2008). The economics and psychology of personality traits. *The Journal of Human Resources*, 43(4), 972-1059.

Boyatzis, R.E. (2008). Leadership development from a complexity perspective. Consulting

Psychology Journal, 60(4), 298-313.

Boyatzis, R.E. (2009). Competencies as a behavioral approach to emotional intelligence. *Journal* of Management Development, 28 (9), 749–770.

Boyatzis, R. & McKee, A. (2005). Reasonant leadership. Boston: Harvard Business School Press.

Brennan, K. A., & Bosson, J. K. (1998). Attachment-style differences in attitudes toward and

reactions to feedback from romantic partners: An exploration of the relation bases of self-esteem. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 24, 699-714.

- Burke, J.M. and Attridge, M. (2011). Pathways to career and leadership success: Part 1 a psychosocial profile of \$100k professionals. *Journal of Workplace Behavioral Health*, 26:3, 175-206.
- Burns, J.M. (1978). *Leadership*. New York: Harper Torchbooks. In T.J. Kowalski (2006). *The school superintendent: Theory, practice and cases*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Burns, J.M. (1978). *Leadership*. New York: Harper Torchbooks. In Bass, Bernard M, & Bass, Ruth. (2009). *The Bass handbook of leadership: Theory, research, and managerial applications*: Simon and Schuster.

Burrus, J., Elliott, D., Brenneman, M., Markle, R., Carney, L., Moore, G., Betancourt, A., Jackson, T.,

Robbins, S. B., Kyllonen, P. C., & Roberts, R. D. (2013). Putting and keeping students on track:

Towards a comprehensive model of persistence and goal attainment. Educational Testing Service Research Report. Princeton, NJ: Educational Testing Service.

Burt, R.S. (2001). New directions in economic sociology. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.

Burt, R.S. (2007). Brokerage and closure: An introduction to social capital. Oxford: Oxford UP.

Cherniss, C., Extein, M., Goleman, D., & Weissberg, R.P. (2006). Emotional intelligence: What

does the research really indicate? Educational Psychologist, 41(4), 239-245.

- Ciarrochi, J., Heaven, P. C. L., & Davies, F. (2007). The impact of hope, self-esteem, and attributional style on adolescents' school grades and emotional well-being: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *41*(6), 1161-1178.
- Collins, D.B., & Elwood, F.H. (2004). The effectiveness of managerial leadership development programs: A meta-analysis of studies from 1982 to 2001. *Human Resource Development Quarterly.* 15(2) 217-248.
- Collins, J. (2001). *Good to great: Why some companies make the leap and others don't.* New York: HarperCollins.
- Collins, S.K. (2009). Succession planning: Perspective of chief executive officers in US hospitals. *The Health Care Manager*, 28(3), 258-263.
- Cooper, C. D., Scandura, T. A., & Schriesheim, C. A. (2005). Looking forward but learning from our past: Potential challenges to developing authentic leadership theory and authentic leaders. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *16*(3), 475-493.

- Cooper, R.K. & Sawaf, A. (1996). *Executive EQ: Emotional intelligence in leadership and organizations.* New York: Grosset Putnam.
- Costa, P.T. & McCrae, R.R. (1992). The five factor model and its relevance to personality disorders. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 6, 343-359.
- Cotter, D. A., Hermsen, J. M., Ovadia, S., & Vanneman, R. (2001). The glass ceiling effect. *Social forces*, *80*(2), 655-681.
- Covey, S. (2008). The leader in me: How schools and parents around the world are inspiring greatness, one child at a time. New York: Free Press.
- Cox, C. (1926). *The Early Mental Traits of Three Hundred Geniuses*. Palo Alto, CA: Stanford University Press. In S.B. Kaufman (2013). *Ungifted: Intelligence redefined – the truth about talent, practice, creativity, and the many paths to greatness*. New York: Basic Books.
- Crocco, M.S. and Costigan, A.T. (2007). The narrowing of curriculum and pedagogy in the age of accountability: Urban educators speak out. *Urban Education, 42*, 512-35.
- Cunha, Flavio, Heckman, James J, Lochner, Lance, & Masterov, Dimitriy V. (2006). Interpreting the evidence on life cycle skill formation. *Handbook of the Economics of Education*, *1*, 697-812.
- Dannels, S.A., Yamagata, H, McDade, S.A., Chuang, Y.C., Gleason, K.A., McLaughlin, J.M. & Morahan, P.S. (2008). Evaluating a leadership program: A comparative, longitudinal study to assess the impact of the Executive Leadership in Academic Medicine (ELAM) program for women. *Academic Medicine*, 83(5), 488-495.

Daft, R. (1978). A dual-core model of organizational innovation. *Academy of Management Journal*, 21: 193-210.

- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior. New York, NY: Plenum.
- Dubow, E. F., Boxer, P., & Huesmann, L. R. (2009). Long-term effects of parents' education on children's educational and occupational success: Mediation by family interactions, child aggression, and teenage aspirations. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly (Wayne State University Press)*, 55(3), 224.
- Duckworth, A. (2011). The significance of self-control. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108, 2639-2640.
- Duckworth, A. L., Grant, H., Loew, B., Oettingen, G. & Gollwitzer, P. M. (2011). Self-regulation strategies improve self-discipline in adolescents: Benefits of mental contrasting and implementation intentions. *Educational Psychology: An International Journal of Experimental Educational Psychology*, *31*(1), 17-26.
- Duckworth, A.L., & Gross, J.J. (in press). Self-control and grit: Related but separable determinants of success. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*.
- Duckworth, A. L., Kirby, T., Tsukayama, E., Berstein, H., Ericsson, K. (2010). Deliberate practice spells success: Why grittier competitors triumph at the National Spelling Bee. *Social Psychological and Personality Science, 2*, 174-181.
- Duckworth, A. L., Peterson, C., Matthews, M. D., & Kelly, D. R. (2007). Grit: Perseverance and passion for long-term goals. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 92, 1087–1101.

Duckworth, A. L., and Quinn, P. D. (2009). Development and validation of the Short Grit Scale (Grit-S).

Journal of Personality Assessment, 91, 166-174.

- Duckworth, A. L., Quinn, P. D., & Seligman, M.E.P. (2009). Positive predictors of teacher effectiveness. *Journal of Positive Psychology, 19,* 540-547.
- Duckworth, A. L., & Seligman, M. E. P. (2005). Self-discipline outdoes IQ in predicting academic performance of adolescents. *Psychological Science*, *16*(12), 939–944.
- Duckworth, A. L., & Seligman, M. E. P. (2006). Self-discipline gives girls the edge: Gender in selfdiscipline, grades, and achievement test scores. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *98*(1), 198– 208.
- Dweck. C.S. (2006). *Mindset: the new psychology of success.* New York: Random House.
- Dweck, C. S., Walton, G. M., & Cohen, G. L. (2011). Academic tenacity. White paper prepared for the

Gates Foundation. Seattle, WA.

- Eccles, J. S., & Wigfield, A. (2002). Motivational beliefs, values, and goals. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 5, 109–132.
- Eskreis-Winkler, L., Shulman, E. P., Beal, S. A., & Duckworth, A. L. (2014). The grit effect: predicting retention in the military, the workplace, school and marriage. *Frontiers in psychology*, *5*.
- Essig, T. (2013, September 26). 625,000 reasons to see grit as key to success. Retrieved from Forbes Web Site: http://www.forbes.com/sites/toddessig/2013/09/26/625000-reasons-to-see-grit-as-keyto-success/
- Etzioni, A. (1964). Modern organizations. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Farrar, D. E., & Glauber, R. R. (1967). Multicollinearity in regression analysis: the problem revisited. *The Review of Economic and Statistics*, 92-107.
- Fiedler, F. E. (1970). Leadership experience and leader performance—Another hypothesis shot to hell.

Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, 5(1), 1-14.

- Findley, Maureen J, & Cooper, Harris M. (1983). Locus of control and academic achievement: A literature review. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *44*(2), 419.
- Finley, M. J. (2014). An Exploration of the Relationship between Teachers' Perceptions of Principals' Instructional Leadership and Transformational Leadership Behaviors (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Georgia Southern University, Statesboro, Georgia.
- Fischer, E.A. (2009). Motivation and leadership in social work management: A review of theories and related studies. *Administration in Social Work, 33(4),* 347-367.
- Fitzgerald, S., & Schutte, N.S. (2010). Increasing transformational leadership through enhancing self-efficacy. *Journal of Management Development, 29*(5), 495-505.
- Fuertes, J. N., Sedlacek, W. E., & Liu, W. M. (1994). Using the SAT and university students. *Measurement* and Evaluation in Counseling and Development.
- Gamoran, A. and Dreeban, R. (1986). Coupling and control in educational organizations. Administrative

Science Quarterly, 31: 612-32.

Ginsberg, R., & Davies, T. (2007). *The human side of leadership: Navigating emotions at work*: Greenwood Publishing Group.

Gladwell, M. (2005). *Blink: The Power of Thinking Without Thinking*. New York: Little, Brown & Company.

Glickman, C.D., Gordon, S.P., Ross-Gordon, J.M. (2010). Supervision and instructional leadership: A developmental approach. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.

Goleman, D. (1998). Working with emotional intelligence. New York: Bantam Books.

- Gottfried, A.E., Fleming, J.S., & Gottfried, A.W. (2001). Continuity of academic intrinsic motivation from childhood through late adolescence: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 93(1), 3-13.
- Graham, M. H. (2003). Confronting multicollinearity in ecological multiple regression. *Ecology*, *84*(11), 2809-2815.
- Hallinger, P., Bickman, L., & Davis, K. (1996). School context, principal leadership, and student reading achievement. *The Elementary School Journal*, 527-549.
- Han, P. (2005). Nobodies to Somebodies: How 100 Leaders in Business, Politics, Arts, Science,

and Nonprofits Got Started. New York: Penguin Group

- Hannah, S.T., & Avolio, B.J. (2010). Ready or not: How do we accelerate the developmental readiness of leaders. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 31(8), 1181-1187.
- Hannan, M.T. & Freeman, J. (1977). The population ecology of organizations. *American Journal of Sociology*, 82, 929-64.
- Heckman, J., Humphries, J.E., & Kautz, T. (2014). The myth of achievement tests: The GED and the role of character in American life. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Heckman, J.J, & Kautz, T. (2012). Hard evidence on soft skills. *Labour economics*, 19(4), 451-464.

Heckman, J. & Rubenstein, Y. (2001). The importance of noncognitive skills: Lessons from the GED testing program. *American Economic Review*, 91(2), 145-149.

Heckman, J. J., Stixrud, J., & Urzua, S. (2006). The effects of cognitive and noncognitive abilities on labor

market outcomes and social behavior. .Journal of Labor Economics, 24(3), 411-482.

- Hersey, P., Blanchard, K. H., & Johnson, D. E. (1988). *Management of organizational behavior*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Hoff, E., Laursen, B., & Tardif, T. (2002). Socioeconomic status and parenting. *Handbook of Parenting Volume 2: Biology and Ecology of Parenting*, 231-52.
- Hoover, E. (2013). Noncognitive measures: The next frontier in college admissions. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. Retrieved from http://chronicle.com/article/Colleges-Seek-Noncognitive/136621/.
- Howell, J.M., & Avolio, B.J. (1993). Transformational leadership, transactional leadership, locus of control, and support for innovation: Key predictors of consolidated-business-unit performance. *Journal of applied psychology, 78*(6), 891.
- Illies, R. Gerhardt, M.W., & Huy, L. (2004). Individual differences in leadership emergence:

Integrating meta-analytic findings and behavioral genetics estimates. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 12(3), 207-219.

- Ingersoll, R.M. (2003). Who controls teachers' work? Power and accountability in America's schools. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Ingersoll, R.M. (2005). The anomaly of educational organizations and the study of organizational control. In *The Social Organization of Schooling*, edited by Larry V. Hedges and Barbara Schneider. New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation.

Jackson, C.K. (2013). Noncognitive ability, test scores, and teacher quality: Evidence from 9th grade teachers in North Carolina. Working paper 18624: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Judge, T.A, & Bono, J.E. (2001). Relationship of core self-evaluations traits-self-esteem,

- generalized self-efficacy, locus of control, and emotional stability—with job satisfaction and job performance: A meta-analysis. *Journal of applied Psychology, 86*(1), 80.
- Judge, T.A., Bono, J.E., Illies, R., & Gerhardt, M.W. (2002). Personality and leadership: A qualitative and quantative review. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *87(4)*, 765-780.
- Judge, T. A., Cable, D. M., Boudreau, J. W., & Bretz, R. D. (1995). An empirical investigation of the predictors of executive career success. *Personnel Psychology*, 48, 485-519.
- Judge, T. A., & Cable, D. M. (2004). The effect of physical height on workplace success and income. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89, 428-441.
- Judge, T.A, Colbert, A.E, & Ilies, R. (2004). Intelligence and leadership: A quantitative review and test of theoretical propositions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *89*(3), 542-552.
- Judge, T. A., Erez, A., Bono, J. E., & Thoresen, C. J. (2003). The core self-evaluations scale: Development of a measure. *Personnel psychology*, *56*(2), 303-331.
- Judge, T. A., Klinger, R. L., & Simon, L. S. (2010). Time is on my side: Time, general mental ability, human capital, and extrinsic career success. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 95, 92-107.
- Judge, T. A., Locke, E. A., & Durham, C. C. (1997). The dispositional causes of job satisfaction: A core evaluations approach. *Research in Organizational Behavior, 19,* 151-188.

- Kansas State Department of Education. (2014). School leadership license requirements. Retrieved from http://www.ksde.org/Agency/DivisionofLearningServices/TeacherLicensureandAccreditation/Lic ensure/LicenseRequirements/SchoolLeadershipLicenseRequirements.aspx
- Kaufman, S.B. (2013). Ungifted: Intelligence redefined the truth about talent, practice, creativity, and the many paths to greatness. New York: Basic Books.
- King, G., & Wand, J. (2007). Comparing incomparable survey responses: New tools for anchoring vignettes. *Political Analysis*, 15(1), 46–66.
- Kirby, P.C., Paradise, L.V., & King, M.I. (1992). Extraordinary leaders in education: Understanding transformational leadership. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *85*(5), 303-311.
- Kotter, J. P. (2008). Force for change: How leadership differs from management. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- Kowalski, T.J. (2006). *The school superintendent: Theory, practice and cases*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Kyllonen, P., Walters, A. M., & Kaufman, J. C. (2005). Noncognitive constructs and their assessment in graduate education: A review. *Educational Assessment*, *10*(3), 153-184.
- Lamborn, S.D., Mounts, N.S., Steinberg, L., & Dornbusch, S.M. (1991). Pattern of competence and adjustment among adolescents from authoritative, authoritarian, indulgent, and neglectful families. *Child Development*, 62, 1049-1065.
- Leithwood, K., & Jantzi, D. (2000). The effects of transformational leadership on organizational conditions and student engagement with school. *Journal of Educational Administration*, *38*(2), 112-129.

Leithwood, K. A., & Riehl, C. (2003). *What we know about successful school leadership* (pp. 1-14). Nottingham: National College for School Leadership.

Levin, H.M. (2012). More than just test scores. *Prospects*, 42(3), 269-284.

Lezotte, L. (1994). The nexus of instructional leadership and effective schools. School Administrator,

51(6), 20-23. In T.J. Kowalski (2006). *The school superintendent: Theory, practice and cases.*

Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

- Liesveld, R. & Miller, J.A. (2005). *Teach with your strengths: How great teachers inspire their students.* New York: Gallup Press.
- Lopez, S. (2013). Making hope happen: Create the future you want in yourself and others. New York: Avia Books.
- Lopez, S.J., Ciarlelli, R., Coffman, L., Stone, M., & Wyatt, L. (2000). Diagnosing for strengths: On measuring hope building blocks. In C.R. Snyder (Eds.). *Handbook of Hope Theory, Measures and Applications* (pp.57-85) San Diego: Academic Press.
- Lopez, Shane J, & Snyder, CR. (2003). *Positive psychological assessment*: American Psychiatric Association.
- Lukes, S. (1974). Power: a radical view. London, UK: Macmillan.
- Luthans, F., & Avolio, B. J. (2003). Authentic leadership development. In K. S. Cameron, J. E.

Dutton, & R.E. Quinn (Eds.), Positive organizational scholarship (pp. 241-258). San

Francisco, CA: Berrett-Koehler.

Luthans, F., Avolio, B. J., Avey, J. B., & Norman, S. M. (2007). Positive psychological capital:

Measurement and relationship with performance and satisfaction. *Personnel Psychology*, 60(3), 541-572.

- Luthans, F., Youssef, C. M., & Avolio, B. J. (2006). *Psychological capital: Developing the human competitive edge*. Oxford University Press.
- Maccoby, E. E., & Martin, J. A. (1983). Socialization in the context of the family: Parent–child interaction. In P. H. Mussen (Ed.) & E. M. Hetherington (Vol. Ed.), *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. 4. Socialization, personality, and social development* (4th ed., pp. 1-101). New York: Wiley.

Maddi, S.R., Matthews, M.D., Kelly, D.R., Villarreal, B., & White, M. (2012). The Role of hardiness and grit in predicting performance and retention of USMA cadets. *Military Psychology*, 24(1), 19-28.

Manz, C.C. & Sims, H.P. (1991). SuperLeadership: Beyond the myth of heroic leadership.

Organizational Dynamics, 19(4), 18-35.

Markle, R., Olivera-Aguilar, M., Jackson, T., Noeth, R., & Robbins, S. (2013). *Examining the evidence of reliability, validity, and fairness for the SuccessNavigator assessment.* Educational Testing Service Research Report. Princeton, NJ: Educational Testing Service.

Marzano, R.J. & Waters, T. (2009). District leadership that works: Striking the right balance.

Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree Press.

Matthews, M. D. (2008). Positive psychology: Adaptation, leadership, and performance in exceptional

circumstances. Performance under stress, 163-180.

- May, D. R., Chan, A. D. L., Hodges, T. D., & Avolio, B. J. (2003). Developing the moral component of authentic leadership. *Organizational Dynamics*, 32, 247-260.
- McEnrue, M. P. (1988). Length of experience and the performance of managers in the establishment phase of their careers. *Academy of Management Journal*, *31*(1), 175-185.

McGowan, P., & Miller, J. (2001). Management vs. Leadership. School Administrator, 58(10), 32-34.

McGregor, D. (1960). The human side of enterprise. New York: McGraw-Hill. In T. Kowalski, *The school superintendent: Theory, practice and cases (pp.200-201)*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

- McGregor, D. (1990). Theory Y: The integration of individual and organizational goals. In T. Kowalski, *The school superintendent: Theory, practice and cases (pp. 200-201)*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Miller, D., De Vries, M., & Toulouse, J.M. (1982). Top executive locus of control and its relationship to strategy-making, structure, and environment. *Academy of Management journal, 25*(2), 237-253.

Moolenaar, N. M., Daly, A. J., & Sleegers, P. J. (2010). Occupying the principal position: Examining relationships between transformational leadership, social network position, and schools' innovative climate. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *46*(5), 623-670.

Muraven, M., & Baumeister, R. (2000). Self-regulation and depletion of limited resources: does selfcontrol resemble a muscle? *Psychological Bulletin*, 126, 247-259. Nadler, R. (2011). Leading with emotional intelligence: Hands on strategies for building confident and collaborative star performers. New York: McGraw Hill.

National Public Radio, & Duckworth, A. (2013). *MacArthur 'genius' on grit, self-control and success*. Retrieved from National Public Radio archives Web Site: http://www.npr.org/templates/story/story.php?storyId=226099837

- Noftle, E. E. & Robins, R. W. (2007). Personality predictors of academic outcomes: Big five correlates of GPA and SAT scores. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 93(1), pp. 116-130.
- Oliver, C. (1991). Strategic responses to institutional processes. Academy of Management

Review, 16: 145-79.

- Ong, A.D., Edwards, L.M., & Bergeman, C.S. (2006). Hope as a source of resilience in later adulthood. *Personality and Individual Differences, 41(7),* 1-13.
- Pascarella, S.V. & Lunenberg, F.C. (1988). A field test of Hersey and Blanchard's situational

leadership theory in a school setting. College Student Journal, 22(1), 33-37.

Pfeffer, J., & Salancik, G.R. (1978). The external control of organizations. New York: Harper and Row.

- Perkins-Gough, D. (2013). The significant of grit: A conversation with Angela Lee Duckworth. *Educational Leadership*, *71(1)*, 14-20.
- Peterson, S.J., Luthans, F., Avolio, B.J., Walumbwa, F. O., & Zhang, Z. (2011). Psychological capital and employee performance: A latent growth modeling approach. Personnel Psychology, 64, 427-450.

- Ragins, B. R., & Cotton, J. L. (1999). Mentor functions and outcomes: A comparison of men and women in formal and informal mentoring relationships. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 84(4), 529-550.
- Rath, T. & Conchie, B. (2008). *Strengths-based leadership: Great leaders, teams, and why people follow*. New York: Gallup Press.
- Rauber, M. (2007). Noncognitive skills and success in life: The importance of motivation and selfregulation. Unpublished manuscript. Retrieved from

http://www.ub.uni-konstanz.de/kops/volltexte/2007/3789/.

- Renzulli, L. (2005). Organizational environments and the emergence of charter schools in the United States. *Sociology of Education*, 78: 1-26.
- Roberts, B. W., Walton, K. & Viechtbauer, W. (2006). Patterns of mean-level change in personality traits across the life course: A meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Psychological Bulletin*, 132, 1-25.
- Robertson-Kraft, C., & Duckworth, A. L. (2013). True grit: Trait-level perseverance and passion for long-term goals predicts effectiveness and retention among novice teachers. *Teachers College Record*.
- Romer, D., Duckworth, A. L., Sznitman, S., & Park, S. (2010). Can adolescents learn self control? Delay of gratification in the development of control over risk taking. *Prevention Science*, *11(3)*, 319-330.
 Rost, J.C. (1993). Leadership development in the new millennium. *Journal of Leadership Studies*, *1*, 92-

Rotter, Julian B. (1966). Generalized expectancies for internal versus external control of reinforcement. *Psychological Monographs: General and Applied, 80*(1), 1.

- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: Classic definitions and new directions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 25(1), 54–67.
- Saghal, P., & Pathak, A. (2007). Transformational leaders: Their socialization, self-concept, and shaping experiences. *International Journal of Leadership Studies*, 2(3), 263-279.
- Salovey, P. & Mayer, J.D. (1990). Emotional intelligence. Imagination, Cognition, and Personality, 9, 185-

211.

- Saxe, D. (2011). The relationship between transformational leadership and the emotional and social competence of the school leader. Retrieved from Loyala eCommons. Loyola University, Chicago, IL.
- Schoel, C., Bluemke, M, Mueller, P, & Stahlberg, D. (2011). When autocratic leaders become an option-uncertainty and self-esteem predict implicit leadership preferences. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*. doi: 10.1037/a0023393.
- Seligman, M. (2006). Learned optimism: How to change your mind and your life. New York: Vintage Books.

Slavin, R.E. (2007). *Educational research in the age of accountability*. Boston: Pearson.

Snyder, C.R., Harris, C., Anderson, J.R, Holleran, S.A., Irving, L.M., Sigmon, S.T., & Harney, P. (1991). The will and the ways: development and validation of an individual-differences measure of hope.

- Snyder, C. R., & Lopez, S. J. (2005). (Eds.), *Handbook of positive psychology*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Snyder, C. R., Rand, K. L., & Sigmon, D. R. (2005). Hope theory: A member of the positive psychology family. In C.R. Snyder & S. J. Lopez (Eds.), *Handbook of positive psychology* (pp. 257-276). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Sosik, J.J. & Cameron, J.C. (2010). Character and authentic transformational leadership behavior:

Expanding the ascetic self toward others. Consulting Psychology Journal, 62(4), 251-269.

Sosik, J. J., & Megerian, L. E. (1999). Understanding leader emotional intelligence and

performance: The role of self-other agreement on transformational leadership perceptions. *Group & Organization Management,* 24(3), 367-390.

Spielvogel, J.J. (2005). World history: Modern times. New York: McGraw-Hill.

- Stackman, R.W. & Devine, K. (2011). Leadership and "emotional-rational" coherence: A start? The Academy of Management Perspectives, 25(1), 42-44.
- Stogdill, R. M. (1948). Personal factors associated with leadership: A survey of the literature. *Journal of Psychology, 25,* 35–71.

Stogdill, R. M. (1974). Handbook of leadership: A survey of theory and research. New York: Free Press.

Stolz, P.G. (1997). Adversity quotient: Turning obstacles into opportunities. New York: John

Wiley and Sons, Inc.

Strayhorn, T.L. (2013). What role does grit play in the academic success of black male collegians

at predominantly white institutions? Journal of African American Studies, 1-10.

- Sweetman, D., Luthans, F., Avey, J. B., & Luthans, B. C. (2011). Relationship between positive psychological capital and creative performance. *Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences/Revue Canadienne des Sciences de l'Administration*, *28*(1), 4-13.
- Tangney, J., Baumeister, R., & Boone, A.L. (2004). High self-control predicts good adjustment, less pathology, better grades, and interpersonal success. *Journal of Personality*, 72, 271-324.
- Tough, P. (2012). How children succeed: Grit, curiosity, and the hidden power of character. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- Tracey, T.J., & Sedlacek, W.E. (1982). Noncognitive variables in predicting academic success by race. *Measurement & Evaluation in Guidance*.
- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, Schools and Staffing Survey, (2012). *Public School Principal Data File, 2011-2012.*
- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, Schools and Staffing Survey, (2007). *Public School Principal Data, BIE School Principal, and Private School Principal Data Files,* 2007-2008.
- U.S. Department of Education, Office of Educational Technology. (2013). *Promoting Grit, Tenacity, and Perserverance: Critical Factors for Success in the 21st Century*.
- Valentine, J. W., & Prater, M. (2011). Instructional, transformational, and managerial leadership and student achievement: High school principals make a difference. *National Association of*

Secondary School Principals (NASSP) Bulletin, 0192636511404062.

- Valle, M. F., Huebner, E. S., & Suldo, S. M. (2006). An analysis of hope as a psychological strength. Journal of School Psychology, 44, 393-406.
- Voelker, D.K. (2011). Understanding the experiences of high school sports captains. *The Sport Psychologist*, 25(1), 47-66.
- Vohs, K., & Faber, R., (2007). Spent resources: self-regulatory availability affects impulse buying. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 33, 537-547
- Vroom, V.H. & Jago, A.G. (2007). The role of the situation in leadership. *American Psychologist*, 62(1), 17-24.
- Waldman, D.A., Balthazard, P.A., & Peterson, S.J. (2011). Leadership and neuroscience: Can we revolutionize the way that inspirational leaders are identified and developed? *The Academy of Management Perspectives*, 25(1), 60-74.
- Wang, Q., Bowling, N.A., & Eschleman, K.J. (2010). A meta-analytic examination of work and general locus of control. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *95*(4), 761.
- Wolff, E. N. (2006). The size distribution of wealth in the United States: A comparison among three household surveys. In J. P. Smith & R. J. Willis (Eds.), *Wealth, work, and health: Innovations in measurement in the social sciences* (pp. 209-232).
- Young, M.S., & Schinka, J.A. (2001). Research validity scales for the NEO-PI-R: Additional evidence for reliability and validity. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 76(3), 412-420.

Zaccaro, S. J., Kemp, C., & Bader, P. (2004). Leader traits and attributes. In J. Antonakis, A. T. Cianciolo, & R. J. Sternberg (Eds.), *The nature of leadership* (pp. 101–124). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.